## SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

# FORM 8-K

Current report filing

Filing Date: **2003-02-25** | Period of Report: **2003-02-18** SEC Accession No. 0000950103-03-000658

(HTML Version on secdatabase.com)

## **FILER**

### **MULTEX COM INC**

CIK:1061310| IRS No.: 000000000 | State of Incorp.:DE | Fiscal Year End: 1231

Type: 8-K | Act: 34 | File No.: 000-24559 | Film No.: 03579393

SIC: 7374 Computer processing & data preparation

Mailing Address
33 MAIDEN LANE 5TH FLOOR
100 WILLIAM ST
NEW YORK NY 10038
6TH FLOOR

Business Address 100 WILLIAM ST 6TH FLOOR NEW YORK NY 10038 2128599800 ------

# SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

-----

FORM 8-K

CURRENT REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Date of report (Date of earliest event reported): February 18, 2003

MULTEX.COM, INC. (Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Delaware (State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation)

0-24559 (Commission File Number) 22-3253344 (IRS Employer Identification No.)

100 William Street

New York, NY

(Address of Principal Executive Offices)

10038 (Zip Code)

212-607-2400

(Registrant's Telephone Number, Including Area Code)

Not Applicable

(Former Name or Former Address, if Changed Since Last Report)

-----

\_\_\_\_\_\_

#### Item 5. Other Events.

On February 18, 2003, Multex.com, Inc., (the "Registrant") announced that it entered into a definitive agreement to be acquired by Reuters Group PLC, a public limited company organized under the laws of England and Wales ("Reuters"). The parties thereafter agreed to amend and restate this merger agreement as of February 24, 2003. Pursuant to the amended acquisition agreement, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Reuters is required to commence a tender offer to purchase all outstanding shares of Registrant's common stock at a price per share of \$7.35 in cash. The offer requires that at least a majority of Registrant's fully diluted shares be tendered and not withdrawn.

The tender offer is subject to customary conditions, including expiration of the applicable Hart-Scott-Rodino waiting period and other regulatory approvals, the accuracy of representations and warranties, the absence of any material adverse effect with respect to Registrant's business (in each case, subject to certain exceptions) and the absence of certain governmental litigation. Registrant has agreed to pay Reuters a fee of \$5.5 million if Registrant's board of directors determines, in the exercise of its fiduciary duties and subject to the terms and conditions of the amended acquisition agreement, to accept a superior proposal from a third party before the consummation of the tender offer.

Following completion of the tender offer, Reuters will have the right to designate a majority of Registrant's board and the merger subsidiary will be merged with and into Registrant under Delaware law, with Registrant continuing as the surviving corporation. At the effective time of the merger, except for stockholders who properly exercise their dissenting rights, all holders of outstanding shares will be entitled to receive the same cash price per share as in the tender offer.

Reuters currently owns 6.0% (1.94 million) of Registrant's 32.5 million outstanding shares. Certain members of senior management of Registrant who control another 3.7% (excluding options) have committed to support the deal by tendering their shares, unless the merger agreement is terminated in accordance with its terms. Isaak Karaev, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Registrant, entered into a two year employment agreement and will become President of Reuters's Investment Banking and Brokerage segment effective upon the closing of the tender offer.

- Item 7. Financial Statements, Pro Forma Financial Information and Exhibits.
  - (c) Exhibits.
    - Exhibit 2.1 Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of February 24, 2003 among Reuters Group PLC, Proton Acquisition Corporation and Multex.com,

Inc.

Exhibit 99.1	Stockholder Tender and Voting Agreement dated as of February 17, 2003 among Reuters Group PLC, Proton Acquisition Corporation and the individuals listed on the signature pages thereof.
Exhibit 99.2	Confidentiality Agreement between Multex.com, Inc. and Reuters Group PLC dated as of December 16, 2002.
Exhibit 99.3	Standstill Letter Agreement between Multex.com, Inc. and Reuters Group PLC dated January 29, 2003.

### SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

MULTEX.COM, INC.

Date:	February 25, 2003	By: /s/ Isaak Karaev

Name: Isaak Karaev

Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

### EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Number	Description of Document
2.1	Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of February 24, 2003 among Reuters Group PLC, Proton Acquisition Corporation and Multex.com, Inc.
99.1	Stockholder Tender and Voting Agreement dated as of February 17, 2003 among Reuters Group PLC, Proton Acquisition Corporation and the individuals listed on the signature pages thereof.

- 99.2 Confidentiality Agreement between Multex.com, Inc. and Reuters Group PLC dated as of December 16, 2002.
- 99.3 Standstill Letter Agreement between Multex.com, Inc. and Reuters Group PLC dated January 29, 2003.

#### AMENDED AND RESTATED

### AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

Among

REUTERS GROUP PLC,

### PROTON ACQUISITION CORPORATION

and

MULTEX.COM, INC.

Dated as of February 24, 2003

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE
	<del></del>
	ARTICLE I
	THE OFFER
Section 1.	.1 The Offer
Section 1.	
Section 1.	
Section 1.	
occuron i.	. The top op closing
	ARTICLE II
	THE MERGER
Section 2.	.1 Effective Time of the Merger6
Section 2.	
Section 2.	
Section 2.	-
Section 2.	.5 Directors6

Section		Officers	
Section	2.7	Board of Directors; Committees	7
		ARTICLE III	
		CONVERSION OF SECURITIES	
Section	3.1	Conversion of Capital Stock	8
Section		Exchange of Certificates	
Section		Closing of Company Transfer Books	
Section	3.4	Withholding	
Section		Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates	
Section	3.6	Further Assurances	
		ARTICLE IV	
		REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY	
Section	4.1	Organization	11
Section		Capitalization	
Section	4.3	Authority	
Section	4.4	Consents and Approvals; No Violations	
Section	4.5	Permits	
Section	4.6	SEC Reports, Financial Statements and No Material	
		Undisclosed Liabilities	14
Section	4.7	Disclosure Documents	15
Section	4.8	Litigation	
Section	4.9	Absence of Certain Changes	16
Section	4.10	Taxes	17
Section	4.11	Benefit Plans; Employment-Related Agreements	19
Section	4.12	Opinion of Financial Advisor	20
		-i-	
Section	4.13	Board Approval; Certain Antitakeover Provisions Not	
		Applicable	20
Section	4.14	Intellectual Property	
Section	4.15	Vote Required	23
Section		Brokers	
Section	-	Environmental Matters	
Section		Personal Property, Real Property and Leases	
Section		Contracts	
Section		Customers and Suppliers	
Section		Transactions with Affiliates	
Section		Labor Matters	
Section	4 23	Broker-Dealer	28

ARTICLE V
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND PURCHASER

Section Section Section Section Section	5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5	Organization		
		ARTICLE VI COVENANTS		
Section	6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 6.6 6.7 6.8 6.9 6.10	Interim Operations.30Reasonable Best Efforts.32Access to Information.33Company Stockholders' Meeting.34Company Stock Option Plan; Warrants.35Company Benefit Plans.37No Solicitation.38Notification of Certain Matters.40Public Announcements.40State Takeover Laws.41Indemnification and Insurance.41		
	ARTICLE VII CONDITIONS			
Section	7.1	Conditions to Each Party's Obligation To Effect the Merger43  ARTICLE VIII TERMINATION		
Section Section		Termination		
		-ii-		
	ARTICLE IX MISCELLANEOUS			
Section Section Section Section Section Section Section Section Section	9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9	Nonsurvival of Representations and Warranties		

Section 9.12 Procedure for Term Section 9.13 Jurisdiction Section 9.14 Company Disclosure ANNEX A	
	-iii-
In	dex of Defined Terms
Defined Term	Location of Definition
Action	
Dissenting Stockholder Effective Time	
Employees	Section 4.11(a)

End Date.....Section 8.1(b)

4.17(b)
4.11(a)
4.11(c)
4.11(b)
1.1(a)
1.1(a)
2.1(b)
4.6
4.4
4.17(c)

-iv-

HSR ActSection 4.4
Indemnified PartiesSection 6.11
Independent DirectorsSection 2.7
Information StatementSection 4.7(a)
Initial Expiration DateSection 1.1(a)
Intellectual PropertySection 4.14(a)
Intellectual Property ContractsSection 4.14(a)
IRSSection 4.10(a)
IP ClaimsSection 4.14(b)
IT AssetsSection 4.14(a)
Licensed Intellectual PropertySection 4.14(a)
LiensSection 4.2(b)
Material ContractsSection 4.19
Merger
Merger ConsiderationSection 3.1(c)
Minimum ConditionAnnex A
OfferRecitals
Offer DocumentsSection 1.1(b)
Offer to PurchaseSection 1.1(a)
OptionsSection 4.2(a)
Original Agreement
ParentPreamble
Paying AgentSection 3.2(a)
PermitsSection 4.5
Per Share Amount
PurchaserPreamble
RegisteredSection 4.14(a)
RightsSection 4.2(c)
SECSection 1.1(a)
Securities ActSection 4.6(a)
Schedule 14D-9Section 1.1(a)
Schedule TOSection 1.1(b)
Scheduled Intellectual PropertySection 4.14(b)
Special CommitteeSection 4.12
Standstill AgreementSection 9.7
5

SubsidiarySection 3.1(b)
Superior ProposalSection 6.7(b)
Surviving CorporationRecitals
Takeover ProposalSection 6.7(a)
Takeover Proposal InterestSection 6.7(a)
Tax ReturnSection 4.10(c)
TaxesSection 4.10(c)
Tender and Voting AgreementsRecitals
Termination FeeSection 8.2(b)
Top-Up ClosingSection 1.3(d)
Top-Up Exercise EventSection 1.3(b)

-v-

Top-Up Exercise NoticeSection	n 1.3(c)
Top-Up Notice DateSection	n 1.3(d)
Top-Up OptionSection	n 1.2
Top-Up Option SharesSection	n 1.2
Top-Up Termination DateSection	n 1.3(c)
Trade SecretsSection	n 4.14(a)
UKLASection	n 5.3
Voting DebtSection	n 4.2(c)
WARN ACTSection	n 4.22(b)
WarrantsSection	n 4.2(a)

-vi-

# AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER dated as of February 24, 2003 (this "Agreement") among Reuters Group PLC, a public limited company organized under the laws of England and Wales ("Parent"), Proton Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware corporation and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("Purchaser"), and Multex.com, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company" and together with Purchaser, the "Constituent Corporations").

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS it is proposed that Purchaser will make a tender offer (as such offer may be amended from time to time as permitted under this Agreement, the "Offer") to purchase all the outstanding shares of the Company's common stock, par value \$0.01 per share (the "Company Common Stock"), for \$7.35 per share of Company Common Stock (such amount, or any other amount per share

offered pursuant to the Offer in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, being hereinafter referred to as the "Per Share Amount"), net to each seller in cash, in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions provided herein;

WHEREAS the respective Boards of Directors of Parent, Purchaser and the Company have approved and declared advisable this Agreement, the Offer and the merger (the "Merger") of Purchaser with and into the Company (after such time, the "Surviving Corporation") following the consummation of the Offer, upon the terms and subject to the conditions hereof, whereby pursuant to the Offer each issued and outstanding share of Company Common Stock properly tendered and not withdrawn will be purchased by Purchaser at a price per share equal to the Per Share Amount, net to each seller in cash, and subsequent to the Offer, each issued and outstanding share of Company Common Stock not owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company, Parent or any of their respective Subsidiaries (as defined in Section 3.1(b)), excluding shares of Company Common Stock held by persons who object to the Merger and comply with all the provisions of Delaware law concerning the right of holders of shares of Company Common Stock to dissent from the Merger and require appraisal of their shares of Company Common Stock (each such person, a "Dissenting Stockholder"), will be converted into the right to receive the Per Share Amount pursuant to the Merger;

WHEREAS certain stockholders of the Company have entered into a Tender and Voting Agreement, (collectively, the "Tender and Voting Agreements"), providing, among other things, that the stockholders party thereto shall tender all shares of Company Common Stock owned by them to Purchaser pursuant to the Offer;

WHEREAS Parent, Purchaser and the Company desire to make certain representations, warranties and agreements in connection with the Offer and the Merger and also to prescribe various conditions to the Offer and the Merger; and

WHEREAS, on and as of the date hereof, the parties to the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of February 17, 2002 (the "Original Agreement") have agreed to amend and restate the Original Agreement in full to read as set forth in this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the respective representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth herein, the parties hereto agree that, on and as of the date of this Agreement, the Original Agreement is hereby amended and restated to read as follows:

ARTICLE I.
THE OFFER

(a) Provided that this Agreement shall not have been terminated in accordance with Section 8.1 and none of the events or circumstances set forth in Annex A hereto (other than in clauses (i) or (ii) of Annex A) shall have occurred or be existing (unless, to the extent permitted hereby, waived), within five business days of the date hereof, Purchaser will commence the Offer for all outstanding shares of Company Common Stock. The Offer shall be subject only to the conditions set forth in Annex A hereto; provided, that Purchaser may waive any condition, except, that Purchaser shall not, without the prior written consent of the Company, (i) waive the Minimum Condition (as defined in Annex A), (ii) reduce the number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to the Offer, (iii) reduce the Per Share Amount, (iv) modify or add to the conditions set forth in Annex A, or (v) change the form of consideration payable in the Offer. Subject to the terms and conditions thereof and the immediately following sentence, the Offer shall initially expire at midnight, New York City time, on the date that is twenty business days after the date that the Offer is commenced (the "Initial Expiration Date", and any expiration time and date established pursuant to any extension of the Offer under this Agreement, as so extended, the "Expiration Date"). Notwithstanding the foregoing, Purchaser shall be obligated (i) to extend the Offer, from time to time, if at the Initial Expiration Date or any subsequent Expiration Date of the Offer any of the conditions to Purchaser's obligation to purchase shares of Company Common Stock are not satisfied until those conditions are satisfied (or, to the extent permitted hereby, waived) and (ii) to extend the Offer for any period required by any order, decree or ruling of, or any rule, regulation, interpretation or position of, any Governmental Entity (as defined in Section 4.4) applicable to the Offer. Following the final Expiration Date and consummation of the Offer, Purchaser may, in its sole discretion, provide for a "subsequent offering period" in accordance with Rule 14d-11 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). The Offer will be made by means of an offer to purchase (the "Offer to Purchase") and related letter of transmittal containing the terms set forth in this Agreement and the conditions set forth in Annex A hereto. Upon the terms and subject to the satisfaction or, to the extent permitted hereby, waiver of the conditions of the Offer as of the Initial Expiration Date or any final Expiration Date, Purchaser will accept for payment and pay for all shares of Company Common Stock duly tendered and not withdrawn promptly after such Expiration Date, and Parent shall or shall cause one of its affiliates to promptly provide to the Paying Agent (as defined in Section 3.2(a)), as and when needed, all funds necessary to pay for the shares of Company Common Stock accepted for payment in the Offer or acquired during the "subsequent offering period." Purchaser shall accept tenders of shares of Company Common Stock through the delivery of certificates representing Warrants (as defined in Section 4.2(a)) pursuant to such procedures as Purchaser and the Company agree and may be specified in the Offer; provided, that such procedures shall permit each tendering holder of Warrants to receive the same amount such holder would have received had the holder exercised the Warrant for

Company Common Stock prior to tender (i.e., the Per Share Price times the number of shares of Company Common Stock for which the Warrant is then exercisable), less the aggregate exercise price for such number of shares of Company Common Stock. Subject to Section 6.7, the Company's Board of Directors shall recommend to its stockholders that they accept the Offer and tender their shares of Company Common Stock to Purchaser pursuant to the Offer in a Solicitation/Recommendation Statement on Schedule 14D-9 (together with any supplements thereto and including the exhibits thereto, the "Schedule 14D-9") to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on the date the Offer Documents are filed with the SEC. Each of the Company, Parent and Purchaser will promptly correct any information provided by it in writing specifically for use in the Schedule 14D-9 that becomes false or misleading in any material respect, and the Company will take all steps necessary to cause the Schedule 14D-9 as so corrected to be filed with the SEC and disseminated to the holders of Company Common Stock and holders of Warrants to whom the Offer was sent, in each case as and to the extent required by applicable law.

(b) As soon as practicable on the date the Offer is commenced, Parent and Purchaser will file with the SEC a Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO (together with all amendments and supplements thereto, the "Schedule TO") with respect to the Offer. Parent agrees, as to the Schedule TO and the included Offer to Purchase and related letter of transmittal (which, with the documents included in the Schedule TO, including, but not limited to, the Rule 13E-3 Transaction Statement (the "13E-3 Transaction Statement"), pursuant to which the Offer shall be made and together with any supplements thereto and including the exhibits thereto, constitute the "Offer Documents") and the Company agrees, as to the Schedule 14D-9, that such documents shall, in all material respects, comply with the requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder and other applicable laws. Parent and Purchaser will disseminate the Offer Documents (other than the Schedule TO) to holders of Company Common Stock and holders of Warrants. Each of Parent, Purchaser and the Company will promptly correct any information provided by it in writing specifically for use in the Offer Documents that becomes false or misleading in any material respect, and each of Parent and Purchaser will take all steps necessary to cause the Schedule TO as so corrected to be filed with the SEC, and the other Offer Documents as so corrected to be disseminated to holders of shares of Company Common Stock and holders of Warrants, in each case as and to the extent required by applicable law. The Company and its counsel, as to the Offer Documents, and Parent, Purchaser and their counsel, as to the Schedule 14D-9, shall be given a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on such documents prior to their being filed with the SEC and to review any comments received from the SEC with respect to such documents, and Parent, Purchaser and the Company agree to give reasonable consideration to the comments of the Company and its counsel and Parent, Purchaser and their counsel, respectively. The Company and its counsel and Parent, Purchaser and their counsel will provide Parent, Purchaser and their counsel, on the one hand, and the Company and its counsel, on the other hand, with a reasonable opportunity to participate in all communications, if any, with the SEC and its staff, including any meetings and telephone conferences relating to the Schedule 14D-9, the Offer, the Offer

Documents, the Merger or this Agreement.

(c) In connection with the Offer, the Company will cause its Transfer Agent to furnish promptly to Purchaser a list, as of a recent date, of the record holders of shares of Company Common Stock and of Warrants and their addresses, as well as mailing labels

-3-

containing the names and addresses of all record holders of shares of Company Common Stock and all record holders of Warrants, and lists of security positions of shares of Company Common Stock held in stock depositories. The Company will furnish Purchaser with such additional information (including, but not limited to, updated lists of holders of shares of Company Common Stock and record holders of Warrants and their addresses, mailing labels and lists of security positions) and such other assistance as Parent or Purchaser or their agents may reasonably request in communicating the Offer to the record and beneficial holders of shares of Company Common Stock and the record and beneficial holders of Warrants.

Section 1.2 The Top-Up Option.

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Company hereby grants to Purchaser an irrevocable option (the "Top-Up Option") to purchase up to that number of shares of Company Common Stock (the "Top-Up Option Shares") equal to the lowest number of shares of Company Common Stock that, when added to the number of shares of Company Common Stock collectively owned by Parent, Purchaser and any other affiliates of Parent immediately following consummation of the Offer, shall constitute at least 90 percent of the shares of Company Common Stock then outstanding on a fully diluted basis (assuming the issuance of the Top-Up Option Shares and the exercise of all Options (as defined in Section 4.2), Warrants and any other rights to acquire Company Common Stock on the date of the Top-Up Exercise Event (as defined in Section 1.3)) at a purchase price per Top-Up Option Share equal to the Per Share Amount.

Section 1.3 Exercise of the Top-Up Option.

- (a) Purchaser may, at its election, exercise the Top-Up Option, in whole, but not in part, at any one time after the occurrence of a Top-Up Exercise Event and prior to the Top-Up Termination Date.
- (b) A "Top-Up Exercise Event" shall occur upon Purchaser's acceptance for payment pursuant to the Offer of Company Common Stock constituting, together with Company Common Stock owned directly or indirectly by Parent, Purchaser and any other affiliates of Parent, less than 90 percent of the shares of the Company Common Stock then outstanding on a fully diluted basis (assuming the exercise of all Options, Warrants and any other rights to acquire

Company Common Stock on the date of the Top-Up Exercise Event), but only if (i) the issuance of the Top-Up Option Shares pursuant thereto would not require the approval of the stockholders of the Company under applicable law or regulation (including, but not limited to, NASDAQ rules and regulations, including Section 4350(i)(1)(D) of the NASD Manual) or (ii) NASDAQ has granted a waiver from any such rule or regulation that is reasonably acceptable to the parties hereto, and there is no other applicable law, rule or regulation that would require the approval of the Company's stockholders for the issuance of the Top-Up Shares. Upon and after the request of Parent, the Company will use its reasonable best efforts (but without the payment of any money) to obtain such a waiver from NASDAQ as promptly as possible after any such request.

(c) The "Top-Up Termination Date" shall occur upon the earliest to occur of (i) the Effective Time, (ii) the termination of this Agreement, (iii) the date that is ten business days after the occurrence of a Top-Up Exercise Event, unless the Top-Up Option has been

-4-

previously exercised in accordance with the terms and conditions hereof and (iv) the date that is ten business days after the Top-Up Notice Date unless the Top-Up Closing shall have previously occurred.

(d) In the event Purchaser wishes to exercise the Top-Up Option, Purchaser shall send to the Company a written notice (a "Top-Up Exercise Notice," the date of receipt of such notice being referred to herein as the "Top-Up Notice Date") specifying the place for the closing of the purchase and sale pursuant to the Top-Up Option (the "Top-Up Closing") and a date not earlier than one business day nor later than ten business days after the Top-Up Notice Date for the Top-Up Closing. The Company shall, promptly after receipt of the Top-Up Exercise Notice, deliver a written notice to Purchaser confirming the number of Top-Up Option Shares and the aggregate purchase price therefor.

Section 1.4 The Top-Up Closing.

(a) At the Top-Up Closing, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, (i) the Company shall deliver to Purchaser a certificate or certificates evidencing the applicable number of Top-Up Option Shares and (ii) Purchaser shall purchase each Top-Up Option Share from the Company at the Per Share Amount; provided, that the obligation of the Company to deliver Top-Up Option Shares upon the exercise of the Top-Up Option is subject to the condition that no provision of any applicable law or regulation and no judgment, injunction, order or decree shall prohibit the exercise of the Top-Up Option or the delivery of the Top-Up Option Shares in respect of any such exercise. Payment by Purchaser of the purchase price for the Top-Up Option Shares may be made, at the option of Purchaser, by delivery of (i) immediately available funds by wire transfer to an account designated by the Company or (ii) a promissory demand note issued by Purchaser in customary form that is

reasonably acceptable to the parties and in a principal face amount equal to the aggregate amount of the purchase price for the Top-Up Option Shares.

- (b) Upon the delivery by Purchaser to the Company of the Top-Up Exercise Notice, and the tender of the applicable Per Share Amount in either of the two forms described in Section 1.4(a), Purchaser shall be deemed to be the holder of record of the Top-Up Option Shares issuable upon such exercise, notwithstanding that the stock transfer books of the Company shall then be closed or that certificates representing such Top-Up Option Shares shall not then be actually delivered to Purchaser or the Company shall have failed or refused to designate the bank account described in Section 1.4(a).
- (c) Purchaser shall pay all expenses, and any and all federal, state and local taxes and other charges, that may be payable in connection with the preparation, issuance and delivery of stock certificates under this Section 1.4.
- (d) Certificates evidencing Top-Up Option Shares delivered hereunder may include legends legally required including the legend in substantially the following form:

THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, AND MAY BE REOFFERED OR SOLD ONLY IF SO

-5-

REGISTERED OR IF AN EXEMPTION FROM SUCH REGISTRATION IS AVAILABLE.

# ARTICLE II THE MERGER

Section 2.1 Effective Time of the Merger. After acceptance for payment and payment for the shares of Company Common Stock pursuant to the Offer and otherwise subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the following shall occur:

- (a) In accordance with the Delaware General Corporation Law (the "DGCL"), Purchaser shall be merged with and into the Company at the Effective Time (as defined in Section 2.1(b)), with the Company continuing as the Surviving Corporation and succeeding to and assuming all the rights and obligations of Purchaser in accordance with the DGCL.
- (b) A certificate of merger or other appropriate documents (the "Certificate of Merger") will be duly prepared and executed by the Company and Purchaser and thereafter delivered to the Delaware Secretary of State (the "Filing Office") for filing as provided in the DGCL as soon as practicable on the Closing Date (as defined in Section 2.2). The Merger will become effective

upon the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Filing Office or at such other later date or time as Purchaser and the Company shall agree and as specified in the Certificate of Merger (the time the Merger becomes effective being the "Effective Time").

Section 2.2 Closing. Unless this Agreement is terminated and the transactions contemplated herein abandoned pursuant to Section 8.1, the closing of the Merger (the "Closing") will take place at 10:00 a.m. on a date to be specified by the parties, which will be no later than the second business day following the satisfaction or, if permissible, waiver of each of the conditions set forth in Article VII (the "Closing Date"), at the offices of Sullivan & Cromwell LLP, 125 Broad Street, New York, New York 10004, unless another date or place is agreed to by the parties hereto.

Section 2.3 Effects of the Merger. The Merger will have the effects set forth in this Agreement and the DGCL. The title to any real estate or any interest therein vested, by deed or otherwise, in the Company or Purchaser shall not revert or in any way become impaired by reason of the Merger.

Section 2.4 Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws.

- (a) The Certificate of Incorporation of Purchaser shall be the Certificate of Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended as provided by applicable law.
- (b) The Bylaws of Purchaser shall be the Bylaws of the Surviving Corporation until amended in accordance therewith and with applicable law.

Section 2.5 Directors. The directors of Purchaser at the Effective Time will be the directors of the Surviving Corporation, each to hold office from the Effective Time in

-6-

accordance with the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Surviving Corporation and until his or her successor is duly elected and qualified.

Section 2.6 Officers. The officers of the Company at the Effective Time will be the officers of the Surviving Corporation, each to hold office from the Effective Time in accordance with the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Surviving Corporation until any removal in accordance therewith or until his or her successor is duly appointed and qualified.

Section 2.7 Board of Directors; Committees. If requested by Parent, the Company will, promptly following the purchase by Purchaser of shares of Company Common Stock pursuant to the Offer, take all actions necessary to cause persons designated by Parent to become a majority of the members of the Board of Directors of the Company. In furtherance thereof, the Company will increase

the size of the Board of Directors of the Company, or secure the resignation of directors of the Company, or both, as is necessary to permit Parent's designees to be elected to the Board of Directors of the Company; provided, however, that the parties shall use their respective reasonable best efforts to ensure that, prior to the Effective Time, the Board of Directors of the Company shall at all times have at least two members (the "Independent Directors") who are members of the Special Committee (as defined in Section 4.12) on the date of this Agreement (each such individual, an "Independent Director"). At such time, the Company, if so requested, will cause persons designated by Purchaser to constitute a majority of each committee of the Board of Directors of the Company (other than the audit committee and the Special Committee), and of each board of directors of each Subsidiary of the Company and of each committee of each such board (in each case involving Subsidiaries of the Company to the extent of the Company's ability to cause the election of such persons). If, however, there are in office fewer than two Independent Directors for any reason, the Company's Board of Directors will take all action necessary to cause a person designated by the remaining Independent Directors to fill such vacancy, which person shall be deemed to be an Independent Director for all purposes of this Agreement, or if no Independent Directors then remain, the other directors of the Company then in office will designate two persons to fill such vacancies who are not directors, officers or employees or affiliates of Parent or the Purchaser or any of their respective Subsidiaries or affiliates and such persons will be deemed to be Independent Directors for all purposes of this Agreement. Following the election or appointment of Parent's designees pursuant to this Section 2.7 and until the Effective Time, the approval of a majority of the Independent Directors, if any, will be required to authorize any: (i) termination of this Agreement by the Company; (ii) amendment of this Agreement; (iii) extension by the Company of time for performance of any obligation or action hereunder by Parent or the Purchaser; (iv) waiver by the Company of compliance with any of the agreements or conditions contained herein; (v) consent by the Company hereunder, or (vi) other action of the Company hereunder or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby. The Company's obligations to appoint designees to the Board of Directors of the Company shall be subject to Section 14(f) of the Exchange Act and Rule 14f-1 promulgated thereunder. The Company shall promptly take all actions required pursuant to such Section and Rule in order to fulfill its obligations under this Section 2.7 (provided, that Purchaser shall have provided to the Company on a timely basis and shall be responsible for all information required to be included in the Schedule 14D-9 with respect to such designees) and shall include in the Schedule 14D-9 such information as is required under such Section and Schedule.

-7-

# ARTICLE III CONVERSION OF SECURITIES

Section 3.1 Conversion of Capital Stock. As of the Effective Time, by

virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of the holder of any shares of capital stock of the Company or of Purchaser:

- (a) Each issued and outstanding share of capital stock of Purchaser shall be converted into and become one validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable share of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, of the Surviving Corporation.
- (b) All shares of Company Common Stock that are owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company and any shares of Company Common Stock owned, directly or indirectly, by Parent, Purchaser or any other Subsidiary of Parent shall be cancelled and shall cease to exist and no cash, shares of capital stock of Parent or Purchaser or other consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor. As used in this Agreement, "Subsidiary" means, with respect to any party, any corporation or other organization, whether incorporated or unincorporated, of which (i) such party or any other subsidiary of such party is a general partner (excluding any partnership, the general partnership interests of which held by such party or any subsidiary of such party do not have a majority of the voting general partnership interest in such partnership) or (ii) at least a majority of the securities or other interests having by their terms ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the Board of Directors or others performing similar functions with respect to such corporation or other organization is directly or indirectly owned or controlled by such party, by any one or more of its subsidiaries, or by such party and one or more of its subsidiaries. References to a wholly owned Subsidiary of an entity include a Subsidiary all the common equity interests of which are owned directly or through wholly owned Subsidiaries by such entity.
- (c) Subject to Sections 3.1(b) and 3.1(d), each share of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into the right to receive from the Surviving Corporation in cash, without interest, the Per Share Amount or any higher price paid for any share of Company Common Stock pursuant to the Offer (the "Merger Consideration"). All such shares of Company Common Stock, when so converted, shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be cancelled and each holder of a certificate or certificates (the "Certificates") which immediately prior to the Effective Time represented any such shares shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive the Merger Consideration, without interest.
- (d) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, any issued and outstanding shares of Company Common Stock held by a Dissenting Stockholder shall not be converted as described in Section 3.1(c) but shall become the right to receive such consideration as may be determined to be due to such Dissenting Stockholder pursuant to the laws of the State of Delaware. If, after the Effective Time, such Dissenting Stockholder withdraws his demand or fails to perfect or otherwise loses his rights as a Dissenting Stockholder to payment of fair value, in any case pursuant to the DGCL, his shares of Company Common Stock shall be deemed to be converted as of the Effective Time into the right to receive the Merger Consideration. The Company shall give

for appraisal of shares of Company Common Stock received by the Company and (ii) the opportunity to direct all negotiations and proceedings with respect to any such demands. The Company shall not, without the prior written consent of Parent, voluntarily make any payment with respect to, or settle or offer to settle, any such demands.

Section 3.2 Exchange of Certificates.

- (a) Paying Agent. Parent shall or shall cause one of its affiliates to authorize a commercial bank (or other person) in the United States reasonably acceptable to the Company to act as paying agent hereunder (the "Paying Agent") for the payment of the Merger Consideration upon surrender of the Certificates.
- (b) Parent to Provide Funds. Parent shall or shall cause one of its affiliates to promptly provide to the Paying Agent, as needed, all the funds necessary to pay for the shares of Company Common Stock pursuant to Section 3.1.
- (c) Exchange Procedures. As soon as practicable after the Effective Time, the Paying Agent shall mail to each holder of record of a Certificate, other than Parent, the Company and any Subsidiary of Parent or the Company, (i) a letter of transmittal (which shall specify that delivery shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to the Certificates shall pass, only upon actual delivery of the Certificates to the Paying Agent, and shall be in a form and have such other provisions as Parent may reasonably specify) and (ii) instructions for use in effecting the surrender of the Certificates in exchange for the Merger Consideration. Upon surrender of a Certificate for cancellation to the Paying Agent or to such other agent or agents as may be appointed by the Surviving Corporation, together with such letter of transmittal, duly executed, and such other documents as may reasonably be required by the Paying Agent, the holder of such Certificate shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor the amount of cash into which the shares of Company Common Stock theretofore represented by such Certificate shall have been converted pursuant to Section 3.1 (after giving effect to any required tax withholdings), and the Certificates so surrendered shall forthwith be cancelled. No interest will be paid or will accrue on the cash payable upon the surrender of any Certificate. If payment is to be made to a person other than the person in whose name the Certificate so surrendered is registered, it shall be a condition of payment that such Certificate shall be properly endorsed or otherwise in proper form for transfer and that the person requesting such payment shall pay any transfer or other taxes required by reason of the payment to a person other than the registered holder of such Certificate or establish to the satisfaction of the Surviving Corporation that such tax has been paid or is not applicable. Until

surrendered as contemplated by this Section 3.2, each Certificate shall be deemed at any time after the Effective Time to represent only the right to receive upon such surrender the amount of cash, without interest, into which the shares of Company Common Stock theretofore represented by such Certificate shall have been converted pursuant to Section 3.1 (after giving effect to any required tax withholdings). Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the Paying Agent nor any party shall be liable to a former stockholder of the Company for any cash or interest delivered to a public official pursuant to applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar laws. Any portion of the Merger Consideration made available to the Transfer Agent pursuant to (and any interest or other income earned thereon) that remains unclaimed by the holders of Company Common Stock six months after the Effective Time shall be returned to the Surviving Corporation, upon demand, and any such holder who has not

-9-

exchanged those shares of Company Common Stock for the Merger Consideration in accordance with this Section 3.2 before that time shall thereafter look only to the Surviving Corporation for payment of the Merger Consideration in respect of those shares without any interest thereon. Any amounts remaining unclaimed by holders of shares of Company Common Stock seven years after the Effective Time (or any earlier date immediately before that time when the amounts would otherwise escheat to or become property of any Governmental Entity) shall become, to the extent permitted by applicable law, the property of the Surviving Corporation, free and clear of any claims or interest of any person previously entitled thereto.

Section 3.3 Closing of Company Transfer Books. At the Effective Time, the stock transfer books of the Company shall be closed and no registration of transfers of shares of Company Common Stock shall thereafter be made on the stock transfer books of the Surviving Corporation. If, after the Effective Time, Certificates are presented to the Surviving Corporation, they shall be cancelled and exchanged as provided in this Article III.

Section 3.4 Withholding. The Surviving Corporation or the Paying Agent will be entitled to deduct and withhold from the consideration otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement to any holder of shares of Company Common Stock such amounts as the Surviving Corporation or the Paying Agent is required to deduct and withhold with respect to the making of such payment under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), or any provision of state, local or foreign tax law. To the extent that amounts are so withheld by the Surviving Corporation or the Paying Agent, such withheld amounts will be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the holder of the shares of Company Common Stock in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made by the Surviving Corporation or the Paying Agent.

Section 3.5 Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates. In the event any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an

affidavit of that fact by the person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed and subject to such other conditions as the Board of Directors of the Surviving Corporation may reasonably impose, the Surviving Corporation shall issue in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate the Merger Consideration deliverable in respect thereof as determined in accordance herewith. When authorizing such issue of the Merger Consideration in exchange therefor, the Board of Directors of the Surviving Corporation (or any authorized officer thereof) may, in its reasonable discretion and as a condition precedent to the issuance thereof, require the owner of such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate to give the Surviving Corporation a bond in such reasonable sum as it may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against the Surviving Corporation with respect to the Certificate alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed.

Section 3.6 Further Assurances. If at any time after the Effective Time the Surviving Corporation shall consider or be advised that any deeds, bills of sale, assignments or assurances or any other acts or things are necessary, desirable or proper (a) to vest, perfect or confirm, of record or otherwise, in the Surviving Corporation, its right, title or interest in, to or under any of the rights, privileges, powers, franchises, properties or assets of either of the Constituent Corporations or (b) otherwise to carry out the purposes of this Agreement, the Surviving Corporation and its proper officers and directors or their designees shall be authorized to execute and deliver, in the name and on behalf of either of the Constituent Corporations in the

-10-

Merger, all such deeds, bills of sale, assignments and assurances and do, in the name and on behalf of such Constituent Corporations, all such other acts and things necessary, desirable or proper to vest, perfect or confirm its right, title or interest in, to or under any of the rights, privileges, powers, franchises, properties or assets of such Constituent Corporation and otherwise to carry out the purposes of this Agreement.

# ARTICLE IV REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

Except as set forth in (a) the disclosure schedule delivered by the Company to Parent and attached as Annex B to this Agreement (the "Company Disclosure Schedule"), subject to Section 9.14 hereof, or (b) the Company's annual report on Form 10-K for its fiscal years ended December 31, 2001 or in any other Company SEC Document (as defined in Section 4.6) filed thereafter, but before the date of this Agreement, the Company represents and warrants to Parent and Purchaser as follows:

Section 4.1 Organization.

(a) Each of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries is a corporation

or other legal entity duly organized, validly existing and, to the extent applicable in the relevant jurisdiction, in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization and has all requisite corporate or organizational power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and assets and to carry on its business as now being conducted, except where the failure to be so organized, existing or in good standing or to have such power authority, individually or in the aggregate, has not had and is not reasonably likely to have a Company Material Adverse Effect (as defined in Section 9.5) or the effect of materially impairing or delaying the ability of the Company to perform its obligations under this Agreement. Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is duly qualified or licensed to do business and, to the extent applicable in the relevant jurisdiction, in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the property owned, leased or operated by it or the nature of the business conducted by it makes such qualification or licensing necessary, except where the failure to be so duly qualified or licensed and in good standing, individually or in the aggregate, has not had and is not reasonably likely to have a Company Material Adverse Effect or the effect of materially impairing or delaying the ability of the Company to perform its obligations under this Agreement.

(b) The Company has heretofore made available to Parent a complete and correct copy of the Certificates of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Company, and such Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws are in full force and effect. The Company is not in violation of any provision of its Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws.

Section 4.2 Capitalization.

(a) As of the date of this Agreement, the authorized capital stock of the Company consists of (i) 200,000,000 shares of Company Common Stock of which, as of February 10, 2003, 32,511,117 shares were issued and outstanding and (ii) 5,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value U.S. \$0.01 per share, of which, as of the date hereof, none are issued

-11-

or outstanding. As of the date of this Agreement, 530,000 treasury shares of Company Common Stock are owned by the Company or its Subsidiaries. No shares of capital stock of the Company have been acquired by the Company that are subject to any future payment obligation. No shares of Company Common Stock are subject to issuance except, as of February 3, 2003, (i) 9,343,138 shares of Company Common Stock were subject to issuance upon exercise of unexpired and unexercised Options (as defined below) under the Company's 1999 Stock Option Plan (the "Company Stock Option Plan") and of which Options to purchase 4,830,481 shares of Company Common Stock have an exercise price that is less than the Per Share Amount, (ii) 8,705 shares of Company Common Stock were subject to issuance upon exercise of unexpired and unexercised Options under the BuzzCompany.com Inc. 1999 Stock Option Plan and of which Options to

purchase 8,705 shares of Company Common Stock have an exercise price that is less than the Per Share Amount, (iii) 207,350 shares of Company Common Stock were subject to issuance upon exercise of unexpired and unexercised Options under the Company's 1995 Market Guide Key Employee Incentive Plan and of which Options to purchase 81,300 shares of Company Common Stock have an exercise price that is less than the Per Share Amount, (iv) 400,000 shares of Company Common Stock were reserved for issuance pursuant to any other option plans, agreements or arrangements and of which Options to purchase zero shares of Company Common Stock have an exercise price that is less than the Per Share Amount, and (vi) 69,240 shares of Company Common Stock were subject to issuance upon exercise of outstanding Warrants for Company Common Stock (the "Warrants") issued by the Company. For purposes of this Agreement, "Options" means each unexpired and unexercised option on the Company Common Stock granted from time to time by the Company. The Company Disclosure Schedule contains a correct and complete list of each outstanding Option and Warrant to purchase shares of Company Common Stock, including the holder, date of grant, exercise price and number of shares of Company Common Stock subject thereto. Since February 3, 2003, the Company has not issued any shares of its capital stock, except for the issuance of Company Common Stock upon the exercise of options granted under the Company Stock Plan which were outstanding on February 3, 2003, and has not repurchased, redeemed or otherwise retired any shares of its capital stock and has not agreed to issue any shares of its capital stock. All the outstanding shares of the Company's capital stock are, and all shares which may be issued pursuant to the Company Stock Plan or upon exercise of the Warrants or any other options will be, when issued and paid for in accordance with the respective terms thereof, duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and not subject to any preemptive rights of third parties in respect thereto.

- (b) Each of the Company's Subsidiaries are wholly owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company, free and clear of any lien, claim, option, charge, security interest or encumbrance of any kind (collectively, "Liens"). Except for the capital stock of its Subsidiaries, the Company does not own, directly or indirectly, any capital stock or other ownership interest in any corporation, partnership, trust, limited liability company or other entity.
- (c) Except as disclosed in Section 4.2.(a) of this Agreement or as a result of actions taken after the date of this Agreement in accordance with Section 6.1 hereof, (i) no bonds, debentures, notes or other indebtedness having the right to vote under ordinary circumstances (or convertible into securities having such right to vote) ("Voting Debt") of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries are issued or outstanding, (ii) there are no existing options, warrants, calls, subscriptions, preemptive or other rights or other agreements or commitments of

capital stock, treasury stock or Voting Debt of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or obligating the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to issue, transfer or sell or cause to be issued, transferred or sold any shares of capital stock or Voting Debt of, or other equity interests in, the Company or of any of its Subsidiaries or securities convertible into or exchangeable for such shares, Voting Debt or equity interests or obligating the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to grant, extend or enter into any such Right and (iii) there are no outstanding contractual obligations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of capital stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any Rights. The Company does not own, directly or indirectly, any voting interest in any person that may require a filing by Parent under the HSR Act (as defined in Section 4.4) or under the European Community Merger Regulations, as amended, or any comparable provisions under any applicable pre-merger notification laws or regulations of foreign jurisdictions.

Section 4.3 Authority. The Company has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute, deliver and perform its obligations under this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, subject only to, with respect to the Merger (if required by the DGCL), the approval and adoption of this Agreement and the Merger by the affirmative vote of the holders of Company Common Stock entitled to cast at least a majority of the total number of votes entitled to be cast by holders of Company Common Stock. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Company and the consummation by the Company of the Offer, the Merger and of the other transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company, including by the approval of the Company's Board of Directors (acting upon the recommendation of the Special Committee), and no other corporate proceedings on the part of the Company are necessary to authorize this Agreement or to consummate the transactions so contemplated, other than, with respect to the Merger (if required by the DGCL), the approval and adoption of this Agreement and the Merger by the Company's stockholders as described in the preceding sentence. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery hereof by Parent and Purchaser, constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, subject as to enforceability to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, fraudulent conveyance and similar laws relating to creditors' rights and to general principles of equity.

Section 4.4 Consents and Approvals; No Violations. None of the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement by the Company, the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby, compliance by the Company with any of the provisions of this Agreement or execution, delivery or performance of the Tender and Voting Agreements will (i) conflict with or result in any breach of any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylaws of the Company, or similar organizational documents of any Company Subsidiary, (ii) require any filing by the Company with, or permit, authorization, consent or approval of, any court, arbitral tribunal, administrative agency or commission or other governmental or other regulatory authority or agency, foreign or domestic (a "Governmental Entity") (except for

(A) compliance with any applicable requirements of the Exchange Act, (B) any filings as may be required under the DGCL in connection with the Merger, (C) filings, permits, authorizations, consents and approvals as may be required under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements

-13-

Act of 1976, as amended (the "HSR Act") or any comparable provisions under any applicable pre-merger notification laws or regulations of foreign jurisdictions, (D) the filing with the SEC and The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. of (1) the Schedule 14D-9, (2) the 13E-3 Transaction Statement and (3) the Company Proxy Statement if stockholder approval is required by law and other such reports under the Exchange Act as may be required in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, and (E) such filings and approvals as may be required by any applicable state securities, blue sky or takeover laws), (iii) result in a violation or breach of, or constitute (with or without due notice or lapse of time or both) a default (or give rise to any right of termination, amendment, cancellation or acceleration) under, or require the giving of notice to or the obtaining of any consent or approval from any third party under, any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any note, bond, mortgage, lien, indenture, lease, license, contract, agreement or other instrument or obligation, including any Material Contract (as defined in Section 4.19), to which the Company or any Company Subsidiary is a party or by which any of them or any of their respective properties or assets may be bound (each a "Contract") or any Permit (as defined in Section 4.5) or (iv) violate any order, writ, injunction, decree, statute, rule or regulation applicable to the Company, any Company Subsidiary or any of their respective properties or assets, except, in the case of clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv), for such exceptions as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Company Material Adverse Effect or prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 4.5 Permits. Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has all governmental permits, franchises, variances, exemptions, orders and other governmental authorizations, consents and approvals ("Permits") necessary to conduct its business as presently conducted except those the absence of which are not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably likely to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.6 SEC Reports, Financial Statements and No Material Undisclosed Liabilities.

(a) Since December 31, 1999, the Company has filed with the SEC all forms, reports, schedules, statements and other documents required to be filed by it under the Exchange Act and the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") (as they have been amended or supplemented since the time of their filing to the date hereof and including all such forms, reports, schedules, statements and documents filed with the SEC after the date of this

Agreement, collectively, the "Company SEC Documents"). The Company SEC Documents, including without limitation any financial statements or schedules included or incorporated by reference therein, (i) did not at the time they were filed, and in the case of the Company SEC Documents filed after the date hereof, will not at the time they are filed, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading and (ii) complied and, in the case of the Company SEC Documents filed after the date hereof will comply in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Exchange Act or the Securities Act, as the case may be, and the applicable rules and regulations thereunder including, without limitation, those amendments to the federal securities laws effected by, and those regulations adopted in accordance with, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 to the extent applicable thereto.

-14-

- (b) The financial statements of the Company included or incorporated by reference in the Company SEC Documents filed before the date of this Agreement (i) comply and, in the case of the Company SEC Documents filed after the date hereof, will comply, in all material respects with applicable accounting requirements and the published rules and regulations of the SEC with respect thereto and (ii) fairly present and, in the case of the Company SEC Documents filed after the date hereof, will fairly present, in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto or, in the case of unaudited statements, subject to normal year-end audit adjustments which were not and will not be material in the aggregate), the consolidated financial position of the Company and its Subsidiaries as at the dates thereof and the consolidated results of their operations and cash flows for the periods then ended.
- (c) Except as reflected, reserved against or otherwise disclosed in the financial statements of the Company included in the Company SEC Documents or as otherwise disclosed in the Company SEC Documents, in each case filed prior to the date of this Agreement, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any liabilities or obligations of any type or kind (whether or not known, absolute, accrued, fixed, contingent, required by GAAP to be recognized or disclosed on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or in the notes thereto, or otherwise), other than liabilities or obligations which, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and are not reasonably likely to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. Except as required by GAAP or applicable law or regulation, the Company has not, since December 31, 2001, made any change in the accounting practices or policies applied in the preparation of its financial statements. Except as has not had and would not be reasonably likely to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, whether individually or in the aggregate, the books and records of the

Company and its Subsidiaries have been maintained in accordance with all applicable legal and accounting requirements.

Section 4.7 Disclosure Documents.

(a) None of the Schedule 14D-9, the 13E-3 Transaction Statement and the information statement to be filed by the Company in connection with the Offer pursuant to Rule 14f-1 under the Exchange Act (the "Information Statement") nor any of the information supplied by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries specifically for inclusion in the Offer Documents will, at the respective times the Schedule 14D-9, the Information Statement or the Offer Documents (including any amendments or supplements thereto) are filed with the SEC or are first published, sent or given to stockholders, as the case may be, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. At the respective times when they are filed with the SEC or are first published, sent or given to stockholders, the Schedule 14D-9, the 13E-3 Transaction Statement and the Information Statement (including any amendments or supplements thereto) will comply as to form in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Exchange Act, and the rules and regulations thereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company makes no representation or warranty with respect to any information supplied by Parent or the Purchaser or any of its representatives for inclusion in the Schedule 14D-9, the 13E-3 Transaction Statement or the Information Statement (including any amendments or supplements thereto).

-15-

(b) The proxy or information statement relating to any meeting of the Company's stockholders that may be required to be held in connection with the Merger (as it may be amended from time to time, the "Company Proxy Statement") will not, when filed with the SEC, at the date mailed to the Company's stockholders and at the time of the meeting of stockholders to be held in connection with the Merger, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading or necessary to correct any statement in any earlier communication with respect to the solicitation of proxies or otherwise. The Company Proxy Statement will, when filed with the SEC by the Company, comply as to form in all material respects with the provisions of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company makes no representation or warranty with respect to any information supplied by Parent or the Purchaser or any of its representatives for inclusion in the Company Proxy Statement.

Section 4.8 Litigation. There is no suit, claim, action, litigation, proceeding, investigation or other application (hereinafter an "Action")

instituted or pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened, against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries by or before any Governmental Entity that is reasonably likely to be resolved adversely to the Company, which, if so resolved, would have or would be reasonably likely to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any outstanding order, judgment, writ, award, injunction or decree that is material to the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

Section 4.9 Absence of Certain Changes. Since September 30, 2002 (the "Base Date"), except for any actions that may be taken after the date of this Agreement in compliance with Section 6.1, there has not been:

- (a) any event, change or development which, individually or in the aggregate, has had or is reasonably likely to have a Company Material Adverse Effect;
- (b) any material damage, destruction or other casualty loss with respect to any material asset or property that is owned, leased or otherwise used by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;
- (c) any declaration, setting aside or payment of any dividend or other distribution in cash, stock or property in respect of the capital stock of the Company;
- (d) any incurrence, assumption or guarantee by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any material indebtedness for borrowed money, other than in the ordinary course of business and in amounts and on terms consistent with past practices;
- (e) any change in any method of accounting or accounting principles or practices by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, except for any such change required by reason of a concurrent change in GAAP or Regulation S-X under the Exchange Act;
- (f) any material Tax election made or changed, any annual Tax accounting period changed, any method of tax accounting adopted or changed, any material amended Tax

-16-

Returns or claims for material Tax refunds filed, any material closing agreement entered into, any material Tax claim, audit or assessment settled, or any right to claim a material Tax refund, offset or other reduction in Tax liability surrendered;

(g) (i) any increase in the salary, wage, bonus or other compensation or grant or award of or increase in any benefits payable or that could become

payable by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to the officers or key employees listed on Section 4.9(g) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, (ii) any amendment to any of the Company's compensation and benefit plans affecting any such officers or key employees, (iii) any establishment, adoption or entry into any new Benefit Plan (as defined in Section 4.11(a)) affecting any such officers or key employees or (iv) any agreements between the Company, on the one hand, and any such officer or key employee, on the other;

- (h) any issuance or sale by the Company or any Subsidiary of (i) any shares of its capital stock, or any shares of capital stock of any of its Subsidiaries, of any class; (ii) any securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any shares of its capital stock of any class or any Voting Debt; and (iii) any options, warrants, calls, commitments or rights of any kind to acquire any shares of its capital stock of any class or any Voting Debt, in each case other than shares of Company Common Stock issued pursuant to the exercise of options, warrants and other stock based awards;
- (i) any transfer, lease, license, guarantee, sale, mortgage, pledge or other disposition of or encumbrance on any material property or assets (including the capital stock of any of its Subsidiaries) outside the ordinary course of business; or
- (j) any acquisition (by any means) of (i) any material amount of assets or (ii) any investment in any stock or other interest in any other person or entity.

Section 4.10 Taxes.

(a) Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has duly filed all material Tax Returns (as defined in Section 4.10(c)) required to be filed by it or appropriate extensions thereof have been properly obtained, all such Tax Returns are complete and accurate in all material respects and disclose all material Taxes (as defined in Section 4.10(c)) required to be paid by the Company and its Subsidiaries, and the Company and each of its Subsidiaries has duly paid or caused to be paid all Taxes shown as due and payable on such Tax Returns in respect of the periods covered by such Tax Returns and, where payment is not yet due, has made adequate provision in the Company's financial statements for payment of all material Taxes through the end of the last period for which the Company and its Subsidiaries ordinarily record items on their respective books. The Company Disclosure Schedule lists the periods through which the Tax Returns required to be filed by the Company or its Subsidiaries have been examined by the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") or other appropriate taxing authority, or the period during which any assessments may be made by the IRS or other appropriate taxing authority has expired. As of the date hereof, there are not pending or, to the knowledge of the Company threatened in writing, any audits, examinations, investigations or other proceedings in respect of Taxes or Tax matters. The Company has made available to Parent true and correct copies of the United States federal income Tax Returns filed by the Company and its Subsidiaries for each of

the fiscal years ended 1999, 2000 and 2001. All deficiencies and assessments asserted as a result of any examinations or other audits by federal, state, local or foreign taxing authorities have been paid, fully settled or adequately provided for in the Company's financial statements, and no issue or claim for Taxes has been asserted in writing by any taxing authority for any prior period, the adverse determination of which would result in a deficiency which would have a Company Material Adverse Effect, other than those heretofore paid or provided for in the Company's financial statements. There are no outstanding agreements or waivers in writing extending the statutory period of limitation applicable to any Tax Return of the Company or its Subsidiaries. There are no Liens for material Taxes upon the assets of the Company or of any of its Subsidiaries, except Liens relating to current Taxes not yet due. All Taxes which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries have been required by law to withhold or to collect for payment have been duly withheld or collected and paid to the appropriate taxing authority. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries (i) has been a member of a group filing consolidated returns for federal income tax purposes, other than the affiliated group of which the Company is the common parent corporation, or (ii) is a party to a tax sharing or tax indemnity agreement or any other agreement of a similar nature that remains in effect. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or otherwise subject to any arrangement having the effect of or giving rise to the recognition of a deduction or loss in a taxable period ending on or before the closing date, and a corresponding recognition of taxable income or gain in a taxable period ending after the closing date, or any other arrangement that would have the effect of or give rise to the recognition of taxable income or gain in a taxable period ending after the closing date without the receipt of entitlement to a corresponding amount of cash. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is required to include in income any adjustment pursuant to Section 481(a) of the Code for any period after the closing date, by reason of any voluntary or involuntary change in accounting method (nor has any Government Authority proposed any such adjustment or change of accounting method).

(b) As of December 31, 2001, the net operating losses (as defined in Section 172 (c) of the Code) of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries for U.S. federal tax purposes that were eligible to be carried forward to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2001, the alternative minimum tax net operating losses (determined under Section 56(d) of the Code) eligible for such carryforward, any research credits (determined under Section 41 of the Code) or other business credits (as defined in Section 38(b) of the Code) that were eligible for such carryforward, and any applicable state net operating losses (the last as of December 31, 2000 rather than December 31, 2001) are each as set forth in the Company Disclosure Schedule. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has engaged in any extraordinary transaction since December 31, 2001, which would have the effect of reducing or limiting the amount of such net operating losses or alternative minimum tax net operating

losses eligible to be carried forward to any taxable year beginning after December 31, 2001.

(c) For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Taxes" means all taxes, charges, fees, levies or other assessments, including, without limitation, income, gross receipts, excise, property, sales, use, transfer, license, payroll, employment, withholding, environmental, ad valorem, alternative or add-on minimum and franchise taxes, imposed by the United States or any state, local or foreign government or subdivision or agency thereof, including any interest, penalties or additions thereto. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Tax Return" means any

-18-

report, return or other information or document required to be filed with a taxing authority in connection with Taxes.

Section 4.11 Benefit Plans; Employment-Related Agreements.

- (a) All benefit and compensation plans, contracts, policies or arrangements covering current or former employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries (the "Employees") and current or former directors of the Company, including, but not limited to, "employee benefit plans" within the meaning of Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"), and deferred compensation, stock option, stock purchase, stock appreciation rights, stock based, incentive and bonus plans (the "Benefit Plans"), are listed on Schedule 4.11(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, and each Benefit Plan which has received a favorable opinion letter from the Internal Revenue Service National Office, including any master or prototype plan, has been separately identified. True and complete copies of all Benefit Plans listed on Schedule 4.11(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, including, but not limited to, any trust instruments and insurance contracts forming a part of any Benefit Plans, and all amendments thereto have been provided or made available to Purchaser.
- (b) All Benefit Plans covering Employees which are subject to ERISA (the "ERISA Plans") are in substantial compliance with ERISA and the Code. Each ERISA Plan which is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code, has received a favorable determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service covering all tax law changes prior to the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001 or has applied to the Internal Revenue Service for such favorable determination letter within the applicable remedial amendment period under Section 401(b) of the Code, and the Company is not aware of any circumstances likely to result in the loss of the qualification of such Plan under Section 401(a) of the Code. No ERISA Plan is intended to be part of a voluntary employees' beneficiary association within the meaning of Section 501(c)(9) of the Code. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has engaged in a transaction with respect to any ERISA Plan that, assuming the

taxable period of such transaction expired as of the date hereof, could subject the Company or any Subsidiary to a tax or penalty imposed by either Section 4975 of the Code or Section 502(i) of ERISA in an amount which would be material.

- (c) Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate (as defined below) nor any predecessor thereof sponsors, maintains or contributes to, or has in the past sponsored, maintained or contributed to, any Benefit Plan subject to Title IV of ERISA. An "ERISA Affiliate" of any entity means any other entity that, together with such entity, would be treated as a single employer under Section 4001 of ERISA or Section 414 of the Code. Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate nor any predecessor thereof contributes to, or has in the past contributed to, any multiemployer plan, as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA.
- (d) Except as set forth on Schedule 4.14(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, all contributions and payments required to be made under each Benefit Plan have been timely made.

-19-

- (e) There is no pending or, to the knowledge of the Company threatened, litigation relating to the Benefit Plans. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any obligations for retiree health and life benefits under any ERISA Plan.
- (f) There has been no amendment to, announcement by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries relating to, or change in employee participation or coverage under, any Benefit Plan which would increase materially the expense of maintaining such Benefit Plan above the level of the expense incurred therefor for the most recent fiscal year. Neither the execution of this Agreement and the Tender and Voting Agreements, stockholder approval of this Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby will (v) entitle any employees of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries to severance pay or any increase in severance pay upon any termination of employment after the date hereof, (w) except as contemplated by Section 6.5(a), accelerate the time of payment or vesting or result in any payment or funding (through a grantor trust or otherwise) of compensation or benefits under, increase the amount payable or result in any other material obligation pursuant to, any of the Benefit Plans or Options, (x) limit or restrict the right of the Company or, after the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, Parent to merge, amend or terminate any of the Benefit Plans, (y) cause the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or, after the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, Parent or any of its Subsidiaries to record additional compensation expense on its income statement with respect to any outstanding stock option or other equity-based award or (z) result in payments under any of the Benefit Plans which would not be deductible under Section 162(m) or Section 280G of the Code.

(g) All Benefit Plans maintained outside of the United States are listed on Schedule 4.11(g) of the Company Disclosure Schedule and each such plan complies in all material respects with applicable local law. The Company and its Subsidiaries have no unfunded liabilities with respect to any such Benefit Plan and there is no pending, or to the knowledge of the Company, threatened litigation relating to any such Benefit Plan.

Section 4.12 Opinion of Financial Advisor. The Company's Board of Directors and a special committee of the Board of Directors comprised entirely of independent directors (the "Special Committee") have received the opinion of Bear, Stearns & Co., Inc., the Company's financial advisor, to the effect that, as of the date of this Agreement, the Per Share Amount to be received in the Offer and the Merger by the Company's stockholders is fair to the Company's stockholders (other than Parent and its affiliates) from a financial point of view, a copy of which opinion has been or will promptly after receipt thereof by the Company be delivered to Parent.

Section 4.13 Board Approval; Certain Antitakeover Provisions Not Applicable.

(a) Subject to Section 6.7, the Board of Directors of the Company, at a meeting duly called and held and acting on the recommendation of the Special Committee, have adopted resolutions (i) approving and declaring advisable this Agreement, the Offer, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, (ii) declaring that it is in the best interest of the Company's stockholders (other than Parent) that the Company enter into this Agreement and consummate the Offer, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, (iii) recommending that the Company's

-20-

stockholders accept the Offer, tender their shares pursuant to the Offer and approve and adopt this Agreement (if required by applicable law), (iv) approving the acquisition of the shares of Company Common Stock by Purchaser pursuant to the Offer and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including for purposes of Section 203 of the DGCL and (v) approving the execution and delivery of the Tender and Voting Agreements, including for purposes of Section 203 of the DGCL.

(b) No state takeover statute (including, without limitation, Section 203 of the DGCL), other than those with which this Agreement complies, applies or purports to apply to the Offer, the Merger, this Agreement or the Tender and Voting Agreements, or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby. The Company does not have a stockholder rights plan or "poison pill."

Section 4.14 Intellectual Property.

(a) The following terms have the following meanings as used in this Section 4.14:

"Intellectual Property" means all (i) trademarks, service marks, brand names, certification marks, collective marks, d/b/a's, Internet domain names, logos, symbols, trade dress, assumed names, fictitious names, trade names, and other indicia of origin, all applications and registrations for the foregoing, and all goodwill associated therewith and symbolized thereby, including all renewals of same; (ii) inventions and discoveries, whether patentable or not, and all patents, registrations, invention disclosures and applications therefor, including divisions, continuations, continuations-in-part and renewal applications, and including renewals, extensions and reissues; (iii) confidential, proprietary information, trade secrets and know-how, including processes, schematics, business methods, formulae, drawings, prototypes, models, designs, customer lists and supplier lists (collectively, "Trade Secrets"); (iv) published and unpublished works of authorship, whether copyrightable or not (including without limitation databases and other compilations of information), copyrights therein and thereto, and registrations and applications therefor, and all renewals, extensions, restorations and reversions thereof; and (v) all other intellectual property or proprietary rights.

"Intellectual Property Contracts" means all agreements with respect to Intellectual Property (other than contracts in which Intellectual Property is only incidental) to which the Company or the Subsidiaries are a party, including without limitation agreements granting the Company and the Subsidiaries rights to use the Licensed Intellectual Property, nonassertion agreements, settlement agreements, agreements granting rights to use Scheduled Intellectual Property (as defined in Section 4.14(b)), trademark coexistence agreements and trademark consent agreements.

"IT Assets" means the Company's and the Subsidiaries' computers, computer software, firmware, middleware, servers, workstations, routers, hubs, switches, data communications lines, and all other information technology equipment, and all associated documentation.

-21-

"Licensed Intellectual Property" means Intellectual Property that the Company and the Subsidiaries are licensed or otherwise permitted by other persons to use.

"Registered" means issued by, registered with, renewed by or the subject of a pending application before a relevant Governmental Entity or internet domain name registrar.

- (b) Section 4.14 of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete list of all (i) material and/or Registered Intellectual Property owned by the Company and the Subsidiaries, indicating for each Registered item the owner or applicant name, the registration or application number and the applicable filing jurisdiction (collectively the "Scheduled Intellectual Property") and (ii) material Intellectual Property Contracts (other than commercial "off-the-shelf" or "shrink-wrap" software and ordinary course customer agreements of which true and complete representative samples of all current or recent forms used have been provided to Parent prior to the date hereof). Except as would not constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect, the Company and the Subsidiaries exclusively own all Scheduled Intellectual Property and such Scheduled Intellectual Property is not subject to any outstanding order, judgment or decree concerning its use or adversely affecting the Company's or the Subsidiaries' rights thereto. To the Company's knowledge and except as would not constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect, all Scheduled Intellectual Property is valid, subsisting and enforceable. To the Company's knowledge and except as would not constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect, the Company and the Subsidiaries have sufficient rights to use all material Intellectual Property used in their businesses as presently conducted, all of which rights shall survive unchanged the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Tender and Voting Agreements. Except as would not constitute a Material Adverse Effect, there is no litigation, opposition, cancellation, proceeding, or claim pending, or to the knowledge of the Company, asserted or threatened ("IP Claims") concerning the ownership, validity, registerability, enforceability, infringement, use or licensed right to use any Scheduled Intellectual Property or, to the knowledge of the Company, Licensed Intellectual Property as concerns the Company or the Subsidiaries. To the Company's knowledge and except as would not constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect, no valid basis for any such litigation, opposition, cancellation, proceeding, objection or claim exists with respect to the Scheduled Intellectual Property. Except as would not constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect, to the Company's knowledge, no person is infringing upon or misappropriating any Scheduled Intellectual Property right or other Intellectual Property right which the Company or the Subsidiaries holds exclusively.
- (c) Consistent with the Company's strategic decisions from time to time regarding the use of its Trade Secrets (including decisions regarding technology strategy changes and conformance with public standards), the Company and the Subsidiaries have taken reasonable measures to protect the secrecy, confidentiality and value of all material Trade Secrets which are owned, used or held by the Company or the Subsidiaries, and to the Company's knowledge, such material Trade Secrets have not been used, disclosed to or discovered by any person except pursuant to valid and appropriate non-disclosure and/or license agreements and those agreements have not been breached. To the Company's knowledge, none of the current employees of the Company or its Subsidiaries has any patents issued or applications pending for any device, process, design or invention of any kind now used or

needed by the Company or its Subsidiaries in the furtherance of their businesses, which patents or applications have not been assigned to the Company or its Subsidiaries.

- (d) Except as would not constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect, each Intellectual Property Contract is legal, valid, binding and enforceable against the parties, and is in full force and effect, subject to applicable bankruptcy and insolvency laws and general principles of equity, and will continue to be so immediately following the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Tender and Voting Agreements. Except as would not constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect, to the Company's knowledge, no claim has been threatened or asserted to an appropriate legal officer of the Company or the Subsidiaries that the Company or the Subsidiaries or, to the Company's knowledge, another person has breached any Intellectual Property Contract, nor has the Company threatened or asserted any such claim against a counterparty. Except as would not constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect, there exists no event, condition or occurrence which, with the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a breach or default by the Company or the Subsidiaries or, to the Company's knowledge, another person, under any material Intellectual Property Contract. No party to any material Intellectual Property Contract has given the Company or the Subsidiaries written notice of its intention to cancel, terminate, change the scope of rights under, or fail to renew any such Intellectual Property Contract. Neither the Company nor the Subsidiaries, nor to the Company's knowledge, any other party to any Intellectual Property Contract, has repudiated in writing any material provision thereof. To the Company's knowledge and except as would not constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect, consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Tender and Voting Agreements will not place the Company or the Subsidiaries in breach or default of any Intellectual Property Contract or trigger any modification, termination or acceleration thereunder. To the Company's knowledge and except as would not constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect, the Licensed Intellectual Property is valid, subsisting and enforceable and is not subject to any outstanding order, judgment or decree concerning the Company's or its Subsidiaries' use thereof or adversely affecting their rights thereto.
- (e) The IT Assets operate and perform in all material respects in accordance with their documentation and functional specifications to the extent such documentation and/or specifications exist as of the date hereof. The Company takes all reasonable efforts to ensure that, and to the Company's knowledge, the IT Assets do not contain any "time bombs," "Trojan horses," "back doors," "trap doors," "worms," viruses, bugs, faults or other devices or effects that (A) enable any person to access without authorization the IT Assets, or (B) otherwise significantly adversely affect the functionality of the IT Assets, except as disclosed in its documentation. To the Company's knowledge, no person has gained unauthorized access to the IT Assets. To the

Company's knowledge, none of the IT Assets contain any shareware, open source code or other software which requires the disclosure of any information which would otherwise be a Trade Secret of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

Section 4.15 Vote Required. The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock entitled to vote with respect to the Merger is the only vote of the holders of any class or series of the Company's capital stock necessary to approve the Merger, this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, and that vote is itself not required if the Merger can be effected in compliance with Section 253 of the DGCL.

-23-

Section 4.16 Brokers. No broker, investment banker or other person, other than Bear, Stearns & Co., Inc., the fees and expenses of which are described in the engagement letter between the Company and Bear, Stearns & Co. dated January 8, 2003, a true, correct and complete copy of which has been provided by the Company to Parent prior to the date hereof, and will be paid by the Company, is entitled to any broker's, finder's or other similar fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company.

### Section 4.17 Environmental Matters.

- (a) Except as has not had and would not be likely to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect:
  - (i) no written notice, order, complaint or penalty has been received by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries arising out of any Environmental Laws, and there are no judicial, administrative or other actions, suits or proceedings pending or, to the Company's knowledge, threatened which allege a violation by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any Environmental Laws;
  - (ii) the Company and each of its Subsidiaries have all environmental permits necessary for their operations to comply with all applicable Environmental Laws and are in compliance with the terms of such permits;
  - (iii) the operations of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries are in compliance with applicable Environmental Laws;
  - (iv) no property currently owned or operated (but only with respect to the portion of the building owned or operated) by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including soils, groundwater, surface water, buildings or other structures) is contaminated with any Hazardous Substance (as defined in Section 4.17(c)); or

- (v) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any order, decree, injunction or other arrangement with any Governmental Entity or any indemnity or other agreement with any third party relating to liability under any Environmental Law or relating to Hazardous Substances.
- (b) As used herein, the term "Environmental Law" means any federal, state, local or foreign statute, law, regulation, order, decree, permit, authorization, common law or agency requirement relating to: (A) the protection, investigation or restoration of the environment, health, safety, or natural resources, (B) the handling, use, presence, disposal, release or threatened release of any Hazardous Substance or (C) noise, odor, indoor air, employee exposure, wetlands, pollution, contamination or any injury or threat of injury to persons or property relating to any Hazardous Substance.
- (c) As used herein, the term "Hazardous Substance" means any substance that is: (A) listed, classified or regulated pursuant to any Environmental Law; (B) any petroleum product or by-product, asbestos-containing material, lead-containing paint polychlorinated

-24-

biphenyls, radioactive material or radon; and (C) any other substance which may be the subject of regulatory action by any Governmental Entity in connection with any Environmental Law.

Section 4.18 Personal Property, Real Property and Leases.

- (a) The Company and its Subsidiaries have sufficient title to all their tangible properties and assets to conduct their respective businesses as currently conducted or as contemplated to be conducted, with only such exceptions as, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and are not reasonably likely to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. Each parcel of real property owned or leased by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is owned or leased, free and clear of all Liens, other than (i) Liens for current taxes and assessments not yet past due, (ii) mechanics' and materialmen's Liens for construction in progress, (iii) workmen's, repairmen's, warehousemen's and carriers' Liens, and (iv) all matters of record, Liens and other imperfections of title, which, in any of the cases of (i) through (iv), individually or in the aggregate, have not had and are not reasonably likely to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) All leases, subleases or similar instruments relating to real property to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party and all amendments and modifications thereto are in full force and effect and have not been further modified or amended, and there exists no default under any such lease by the Company or any such Subsidiary, nor any event which with notice or

lapse of time or both would constitute a default thereunder by the Company or any such Subsidiary, except as, individually or in the aggregate, has not had and is not reasonably likely to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. The Company Disclosure Schedule contains a correct and complete list of all real property and interests in real property leased or subleased by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and all leases, subleases or similar instruments relating to real property to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party. The Company has provided to Parent true and complete copies of all leases, subleases or similar instruments relating to real property to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party.

Section 4.19 Contracts. Other than arrangements between or among the Company and/or its wholly owned Subsidiaries and all Benefit Plans, Employment Related Agreements and Intellectual Property Contracts disclosed in the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company Disclosure Schedule lists all Contracts that exist as of the date hereof to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which it or such Subsidiary is, or any of their assets or properties are, bound and which fall within any of the following categories (all Contracts required to be listed in Section 4.19 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, "Material Contracts"):

- (a) joint venture, partnership, stockholder, limited liability company (other than with respect to wholly owned limited liability companies), governance, equity participation and similar Contracts;
- (b) Contracts which contain requirements for payments in excess of \$200,000 per year or \$500,000 in aggregate, including but not limited to service agreements, leases and other purchasing Contracts;

-25-

- (c) Contracts relating to any outstanding commitment for capital expenditures;
- (d) All material content provider (excluding research contributors), distribution, marketing and sponsorship Contracts;
- (e) Contacts with or relating to shareholders of the Company with respect to their shareholdings;
- (f) indentures, mortgages, promissory notes, loan agreements or guarantees of borrowed money, letters of credit or other agreements or instruments or commitments for the borrowing or the lending of money (or providing for the creation of any Lien upon any of the assets) of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with an aggregate value in excess of U.S. \$100,000;
  - (g) Contracts associated with off balance sheet financing;

- (h) stock purchase agreements, asset purchase agreements, merger agreements or other acquisition or divestiture agreements;
- (i) Contracts which prohibit or restrict the Company or any of its Subsidiaries from conducting or competing in any line of business, conducting business in any particular geographical area, competing with any person or engaging in any other activity;
- (j) material Contracts with Merrill Lynch & Co. or any of its affiliates;
- (k) Contracts providing or committing to provide funds to, making or committing to make any investment in, or making or committing to make capital contributions to, any entity or business to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party;
- (1) Contracts relating to investments made or committed to be made by any of the Companies, including any commercial contracts with any such investee companies; and
- (m) any other Contract which is material to the business of the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, irrespective of amount.

All Contracts to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which it or such Subsidiary is bound are valid and binding obligations of the Company or such Subsidiary and, to the knowledge of the Company, the valid and binding obligation of each other party thereto except such Contracts which, if not so valid and binding, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and are not reasonably likely to have, a Company Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any other party thereto is in violation of or in default in respect of, nor has there occurred an event or condition which with the passage of time or giving of notice (or both) would constitute a default under or permit the termination of, any such Contract except such violations or defaults under or terminations which, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not be reasonably be expected to have, a Company Material Adverse Effect. The Company has

-26-

furnished or made available to Parent true and complete copies of all Material Contracts, including any amendments thereto.

Section 4.20 Customers and Suppliers. Since September 30, 2002 to the date of this Agreement, there has been no termination, cancellation or material curtailment of the business relationship of the Company or any Company Subsidiary with any customer or supplier or group of affiliated customers or suppliers which, individually or in the aggregate, has had or would be

reasonably likely to have a Company Material Adverse Effect nor any written notice of intent to so terminate, cancel or materially curtail.

Section 4.21 Transactions with Affiliates. Since December 31, 2001, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has, in the ordinary course of business or otherwise, purchased, leased or otherwise acquired any material property or assets or obtained any material services from, or sold, leased or otherwise disposed of any material property or assets or provided any material services to (except with respect to remuneration for services rendered as a director, officer or employee of the Company), any executive officer or director of the Company or any affiliate of any such executive officer or director (subject to the last sentence of this Section 4.21, each such person being referred to herein as a "Covered Affiliate"). Other than in the ordinary course of business in connection with their employment by the Company, (x) the Contracts do not include any obligation or commitment between the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any Covered Affiliate, on the other, (y) the Company's and its Subsidiaries' assets do not include any receivable or other obligation owed by any Covered Affiliate to the Company and (z) the liabilities reflected on the Company's financial statements do not include any obligation or commitment to any Covered Affiliate. For the sake of clarity, in no event shall the Company or any Subsidiary be considered an affiliate of any executive officer or director of the Company for purposes of this Section 4.21.

## Section 4.22 Labor Matters

- (a) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or otherwise bound by any collective bargaining agreement, contract or other agreement or understanding with a labor union or labor organization, nor, as of the date hereof, is the Company or any of its Subsidiaries the subject of any material proceeding asserting that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has committed an unfair labor practice or is seeking to compel it to bargain with any labor union or labor organization, nor is there pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened, nor has there been for the past five years, any labor strike, dispute, walk-out, work stoppage, slow-down or lockout involving the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
- (b) Except as has not had and is not reasonably likely to have, whether, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect, (i) the Company and its Subsidiaries have complied with each, and are not in violation of any, applicable employment law or regulation, including, without limitation, any law or regulation relating to anti-discrimination and equal employment opportunities, and (ii) there are, and have been, no violations of any other law or regulation of any Governmental Entity respecting the hiring, hours, wages, occupational safety and health, employment, promotion, termination or benefits or any employee or other person, including the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988 ("WARN Act").

- (c) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any agreement which restricts the Company or any Subsidiary from relocating, closing or terminating any of its operations or facilities of any portion thereof.
- (d) Except as has not had and is not reasonably likely to have, whether, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect, the Company and its Subsidiaries have complied and are in material compliance with the requirements of the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 and the Immigration and Naturalization Act.

Section 4.23 Broker-Dealer. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is or has been registered or required to be registered as a broker-dealer under the Exchange Act or, to the knowledge of the Company, the laws of any state or foreign jurisdiction.

#### ARTICLE V

### REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND PURCHASER

Parent and Purchaser, jointly and severally, represent and warrant to the Company as follows:

Section 5.1 Organization. Each of Parent and Purchaser is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and, in the case of Purchaser, in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization and has all requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as now being conducted, except where the failure to be so organized, existing or in good standing or to have such power and authority, individually or in the aggregate, has not and is not reasonably likely to prevent or delay the consummation of the Offer or the Merger in any material respect or to impair or delay in any material respect the ability of each of Parent and Purchaser to perform its obligations under this Agreement.

Section 5.2 Authority. Each of Parent and Purchaser has the requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by each of Parent and Purchaser and the consummation of the Offer, the Merger and of the other transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of each of Parent and Purchaser and have been approved by the sole stockholder of Purchaser, and no approval of the shareholders of Parent is required in respect thereof. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by each of Parent and Purchaser and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery hereof by the Company, constitutes a valid and binding obligation of Parent and Purchaser, enforceable against Parent and Purchaser in accordance with its terms, subject as to enforceability to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, fraudulent conveyance and similar laws relating to creditors' rights and to general principles of equity.

Section 5.3 Consents and Approvals; No Violations. None of the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement by Parent or Purchaser, the consummation by Parent or Purchaser of the transactions contemplated hereby, or compliance by Parent or Purchaser with

-28-

any of the provisions hereof will (a) conflict with or result in any breach of any provision of the organizational documents of Parent or the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws of Purchaser, (b) result in a violation or breach of, or constitute (with or without due notice or lapse of time or both) a default (or give rise to any right of termination, amendment, cancellation or acceleration) under, or require the giving of notice to or the obtaining of any consent or approval from any third party under, any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any Contract to which Parent, Purchaser or any of their respective Subsidiaries is a party or to which any of the foregoing's assets are bound, (c) require any filing by Parent or Purchaser with, or permit, authorization, consent or approval of, any Governmental Entity (except for (i) compliance with any applicable requirements of the Exchange Act and Securities Act, (ii) any filing pursuant to the DGCL, (iii) filings, permits, authorizations, consents and approvals as may be required under the HSR Act or comparable merger and notifications, laws or regulations of foreign jurisdictions, (iv) the filing or deemed filing with the SEC and The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. of (A) the Schedule TO, (B) the 13E-3 Transaction Statement, (C) the Company Proxy Statement, if Company stockholder approval is required by law and (D) such reports under Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act as may be required in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, (v) such filings and approvals as may be required by any applicable state securities, blue sky or takeover laws, (vi) any announcements or disclosures as may be required under the United Kingdom Listing Authority's (the "UKLA") Listing Rules or by the UKLA, or (vii) any notices as may be required to be given to the Financial Services Authority in connection with Multex Investor Europe), or (d) violate any order, writ, injunction, decree, statute, rule or regulation applicable to Parent, Purchaser, any of their respective affiliates, or any of their respective properties or assets, except in the case of clause (b), (c) or (d) such violations, breaches or defaults which, individually or in the aggregate, have not and are not reasonably likely to prevent or delay the consummation of the Offer and the Merger in any material respect or to impair or delay in any material respect the ability of each of Parent and Purchaser to perform its other obligations under this Agreement.

Section 5.4 Disclosure Documents.

(a) At the respective times when they are filed with the SEC or are first published, sent or given to stockholders, the Offer Documents (including any amendments or supplements thereto) will comply as to form in all material

respects with the applicable requirements of the Exchange Act, and the rules and regulations thereunder. None of the Offer Documents or the information supplied by Parent or Purchaser specifically for inclusion in the Schedule 14D-9 will, at the respective times the Offer Documents or the Schedule 14D-9 (including any amendments or supplements thereto) are filed with the SEC or are first published, sent or given to stockholders, as the case may be, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

(b) None of the information supplied by Parent or Purchaser specifically for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Company Proxy Statement, if required as the case may be, will, at the date mailed to the Company's stockholders and at the time of the meeting of stockholders, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. Notwithstanding the foregoing,

-29-

Parent and Purchaser make no representation or warranty with respect to any information supplied by the Company or any of its representatives in writing specifically for inclusion in any of the foregoing documents or the Offer Documents.

Section 5.5 Financing. Parent has, and will have, sufficient cash, committed and available lines of credit or other sources of immediately available funds to consummate the purchase of all of the Shares, to satisfy its obligations under Section 6.5 and to pay all related payments, fees and expenses pursuant to the Offer and this Agreement, in each case promptly in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

Section 5.6 Brokers. No broker, investment banker or other person, other than J.P. Morgan plc, the fees and expenses of which will be paid by Parent or its Subsidiaries, is entitled to any broker's, finder's or other similar fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Parent and Purchaser.

## ARTICLE VI COVENANTS

Section 6.1 Interim Operations. The Company covenants and agrees as to itself and its Subsidiaries that, after the date hereof and prior to the Effective Time (unless Parent shall otherwise approve in writing), except as may be reasonably responsive to an express requirement of law or as otherwise expressly contemplated by this Agreement):

- (a) Maintenance of the Business. The business of it and its Subsidiaries shall be conducted in the ordinary and usual course and, to the extent consistent therewith, it and its Subsidiaries shall use their respective commercially reasonable efforts to preserve its business organization intact and maintain its existing relations and goodwill with customers, suppliers, distributors, creditors, lessors, unions, employees and business associates in all material respects;
- (b) Negative Interim Operating Covenants. Neither it nor any of its Subsidiaries shall:
  - (i) Corporate Matters amend its Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws or comparable organizational documents;
    - (ii) Actions Regarding Capital Stock/Stock Issuances
      - a. issue, sell, pledge, dispose of or encumber:
      - i. any shares of its capital stock or any shares of capital stock of any of its Subsidiaries, of any class;
      - ii. any securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any shares of its capital stock of any class or any Voting Debt;

-30-

iii. any options, warrants, calls, commitments or rights of any kind to acquire any shares of its capital stock of any class or any Voting Debt or any other property or assets,

in each case, other than (x) shares of Company Common Stock issuable pursuant to options, warrants and other stock-based awards outstanding on the date hereof, (y) the purchase of shares of Company Common Stock under the Company 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan pursuant to payroll deductions previously authorized by eligible employees for the purchase interval in effect on the date hereof and (z) after August 17, 2003, the grant of options to any director, officer or employee of the Company or any Subsidiary in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

b. other than in the case of any direct or indirect wholly owned Subsidiary, split, combine, subdivide or reclassify its outstanding shares of capital stock;

- c. repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, directly or indirectly, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to purchase or otherwise acquire, any shares of its capital stock or any securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any shares of its capital stock;
- (iii) Dividends declare, set aside or pay any dividend payable in cash, stock or property in respect of any capital stock other than dividends payable to it or to its direct or indirect wholly owned Subsidiaries by their respective direct or indirect wholly owned Subsidiaries;
- (iv) Dispositions other than in the ordinary and usual course of business or pursuant to existing contracts or commitments, transfer, lease, license, guarantee, sell, mortgage, pledge, or otherwise dispose of or encumber any material property or assets (including capital stock of any of its Subsidiaries);
- (v) Indebtedness; Acquisitions; Capital Expenditures (A) incur or modify any material indebtedness other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices or indebtedness existing solely between the Company and its wholly owned Subsidiaries; (B) enter into any Contract providing for payments by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or otherwise agree to make any expenditure or agree to incur any liability by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, in excess of \$500,000 in the aggregate; (C) make or authorize or commit for any capital expenditures not reflected in the annual budget delivered to Parent before the date hereof, other than in amounts that are less than \$100,000 individually and \$300,000 in the aggregate and (D) by any means, make any acquisition of, any material amount of assets or any

-31-

acquisition of or investment in any stock of or other interest in, any other person or entity;

(vi) Employee Benefits - (A) prior to August 17, 2003, make any awards under, amend or otherwise modify, any Benefit Plan and thereafter make any such award, amendment or modification other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; (B) prior to August 17, 2003, permit any newly eligible employees to participate in the Company 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, grant any new purchase rights thereunder, or commence a new purchase interval after the expiration of the current purchase interval; (C) establish, adopt or enter into any new Benefit Plans; (D) prior to

August 17, 2003, except as set forth on Schedule 6.1(b)(vi)(D), increase the salary, wage, bonus or other compensation or benefits of any employees, and thereafter increase the salary, wage, bonus or other compensation or benefits of any employees other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices; or (E) hire any employee at a compensation level expected to be more than \$125,000 a year;

- (vii) Other Company Rights or Claims except as disclosed in the Company Disclosure Schedule, settle or compromise any material claims or litigation or, except in the ordinary and usual course of business, modify, amend or terminate any of its Material Contracts or waive, release or assign any material rights or claims;
- (viii) Tax Elections; Accounting Practices; Insurance Policies neither it nor any of its Subsidiaries shall make any material Tax election or file any material income Tax Refund or implement or adopt any change in its accounting principles or material accounting practices, in all cases other than as may be required by applicable laws or by GAAP, or permit any insurance policy naming it as a beneficiary or loss-payable payee to be cancelled or terminated except in the ordinary and usual course of business; and
- (ix) General neither it nor any of its Subsidiaries will authorize or enter into an agreement to do any of the foregoing.

Section 6.2 Reasonable Best Efforts. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, each of the parties hereto will use its reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under applicable laws and regulations to consummate and make effective, in the most expeditious manner practicable, the Offer and the Merger, including (i) obtaining all necessary actions or non-actions, waivers, consents and approvals from Governmental Entities and the making of all necessary registrations and filings (including filings with Governmental Entities) and the taking of all reasonable steps as may be necessary to obtain an approval or waiver from, or to avoid an action or proceeding by any Governmental Entity (including those in connection with any governmental antitrust review), (ii) obtaining all necessary consents, approvals or waivers from third parties, (iii) defending any claims, investigations, actions, lawsuits or other legal proceedings, whether judicial or administrative, challenging this

-32-

Agreement or the consummation of the Offer and the Merger, including seeking to have any stay or temporary restraining order entered by any court or other Governmental Entity vacated or reversed and (iv) executing and delivering any additional instruments necessary to consummate the Offer and the Merger.

Subject to applicable laws and the terms of any relevant agreements with third parties relating to the exchange of information, Parent and the Company shall have the right to review in advance, and to the extent practicable each will promptly consult the other on, any filing made with, or written materials submitted to, any third party and/or any Governmental Entity in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The Company and Parent shall keep the other apprised of the status of matters relating to completion of the transactions contemplated hereby, including promptly furnishing the other with copies of notices or other communications sent to or received by Parent or the Company and its Subsidiaries, as the case may be, from any third party and/or any Governmental Entity with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby. Each party shall afford the other party with advance notice of, and a meaningful opportunity to participate in, any such communications to or from Governmental Entities, including, without limitation, a right to attend, with advisors present, any meetings (telephonic or in person) with such Governmental Entities. In furtherance of the foregoing, in connection with the receipt of any necessary approvals under the HSR Act or any other comparable laws of foreign jurisdictions, Parent, the Company and their respective Subsidiaries shall be required to take or commit to take any and all actions that may be required with respect to Parent or the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries or any portions thereof or any of the businesses, product lines, properties or assets of the Parent or the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries (including, but not limited to, challenging, defending against and appealing any Action, injunction, order or decree that may be taken or issued by or before any Governmental Entity in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby), unless in any such case any such action is reasonably likely to (i) have a Company Material Adverse Effect (without giving effect to the exceptions (i)-(v) thereof) or a material adverse effect on the business, assets, liabilities, operations, results of operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of Parent and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (ii) require Parent or any of its Subsidiaries to divest or hold separate a material amount of the assets of Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole or (iii) have a material adverse effect on the benefits expected to be realized by Parent from the transaction.

Section 6.3 Access to Information. Upon reasonable notice, the Company will (and will cause its Subsidiaries to) afford to the officers, employees, accountants, counsel and other representatives of Parent and Purchaser, access, at all reasonable times during the period prior to the Effective Time, to all its properties, facilities, books, Contracts, commitments and records (including Tax Returns) and other information requested by such party, including for purposes of post-acquisition planning and integration planning to the extent requested by Parent, and, during such period, the Company will (and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to) furnish promptly to Parent and Purchaser all information concerning its business, properties and personnel as Parent or Purchaser may request; provided, that (i) no investigation or request pursuant to this Section 6.3 or otherwise as undertaken in connection with the transactions contemplated hereunder, shall affect or be deemed to modify any representation or warranty made by the Company; (ii) the Company in responding to requests from Parent or any Parent representative for access to records or other information of a confidential and competitively sensitive nature may, prior to expiration or termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act, limit such access to Parent's outside accountants, counsel, financial advisors and other outside

-33-

representatives; and (iii) in no event shall this Section 6.3 be deemed to permit Parent, Purchaser, any of this respective affiliates or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents or representatives to conduct any invasive sampling or testing. Any information that is obtained pursuant to this Section 6.3 or any other provision of this Agreement shall be subject to the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement dated December 16, 2002, by and between Reuters America Inc. and the Company (the "Confidentiality Agreement"), and each party hereto will comply with the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement, whether or not a party thereto.

Section 6.4 Company Stockholders' Meeting.

- (a) If approval of this Agreement and the Merger by the stockholders of the Company is required by law, the Company shall duly give notice of, convene and hold a meeting of its stockholders for the purpose of voting upon this Agreement (insofar as it relates to the Merger), the Merger and related matters as soon as possible following consummation of the Offer. The Company will, through its Board of Directors, recommend to its stockholders approval and adoption of this Agreement and approval of the Merger, except to the extent that the Board of Directors of the Company shall have withdrawn its approval or recommendation of this Agreement or the Merger to the extent permitted by Section 6.7. The obligations of the Company contained in the first sentence of this paragraph shall apply and remain in full force and effect regardless of whether the Company or the Special Committee shall have withdrawn its approval or recommendation of this Agreement or the Merger.
- (b) As soon as possible after commencement of the Offer, the Company shall commence preparation of a preliminary Company Proxy Statement related to the Merger and this Agreement, which shall be substantially completed prior to the Initial Expiration Date. Following the consummation of the Offer, if approval of this Agreement and the Merger by the stockholders of the Company is required by law, the Company will, as soon as possible following consummation of the Offer, but in any event within 5 business days, file such preliminary Company Proxy Statement with the SEC and will use all reasonable efforts to respond to any comments of the SEC or its staff and to cause a definitive Company Proxy Statement to be mailed to the Company's stockholders. The Company will notify Parent promptly of the receipt of and will respond promptly to (i) any comments from the SEC or its staff and (ii) any request by the SEC or its staff for amendments or supplements to the Company Proxy Statement or for additional information and will supply Parent with copies of all correspondence between the Company or any of its representatives, on the one hand, and the SEC or its staff, on the other hand, with respect to the Company Proxy Statement or

the Merger. If at any time prior to the approval of this Agreement by the Company's stockholders there shall occur any event that is required to be set forth in an amendment or supplement to the Company Proxy Statement, the Company will promptly notify Parent thereof and prepare and mail to its stockholders such an amendment or supplement. Parent and its counsel shall be given a reasonable opportunity to be involved in the drafting of and review and comment upon any Company Proxy Statement and any amendment or supplement thereto and any such correspondence prior to its filing with the SEC or dissemination to the Company's stockholders and the Company shall not mail any Company Proxy Statement, or any amendment or supplement thereto, to which Parent reasonably objects. Subject to Section 6.7, the Company shall include in the definitive Company Proxy Statement the recommendation of the Company's Board of Directors that stockholders of the Company vote in favor of the approval of the Merger

-34-

and the adoption of this Agreement and shall use all reasonable efforts to solicit from holders of Company Common Stock proxies in favor of the Merger and take all actions reasonably necessary or, in the reasonable opinion of the Purchaser, advisable to secure the approval of stockholders required by the DGCL, the Company's Certificate of Incorporation and any other applicable law to effect the Merger.

Common Stock owned by Parent, Purchaser and any other affiliate of Parent collectively immediately following consummation of the Offer shall constitute at least 90 percent of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock, and provided that the conditions to the Company's obligations set forth in Section 7.1 shall have been satisfied or waived, the parties shall, at the request of Parent, take all necessary and appropriate action to cause the Merger to become effective as soon as possible, but in any event within two business days, after such acquisition, without the approval of the stockholders of the Company, in accordance with Section 253 of the DGCL. Parent agrees to cause all shares of Company Common Stock purchased pursuant to the Offer and all other shares of Company Common Stock owned by Purchaser, Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent or with respect to which Parent then has the right to vote, if any, to be voted in favor of the approval and adoption of this Agreement and the approval of the Merger.

Section 6.5 Company Stock Option Plan; Warrants.

(a) The Company shall take, and shall cause each plan administrator to take, such actions as may be necessary such that, at the Effective Time, each Option, whether or not exercisable, outstanding pursuant to the Company Stock Option Plan, the BuzzCompany.com Inc. 1999 Stock Option Plan, the 1995 Market Guide Key Employee Incentive Plan, the 1995 Market Guide Independent Directors Stock Incentive Plan, and any other option plan, agreement or arrangement, shall be cancelled and, except for those Options described in

paragraph (b) below, only entitle the holder thereof, upon surrender thereof, to receive an amount in cash from the Company equal to the result of multiplying the total number of shares of Company Common Stock previously subject to such unexercised Option by the positive difference, if any, between the Per Share Amount and the per Share exercise price of such Option. No Options shall be outstanding from and as of the Effective Time.

(b) Effective at the Effective Time, Parent shall cause to be established a restricted share program with respect to cancelled Options that (i) were previously issued under the Company Stock Plan pursuant to the Plan's "Discretionary Option Grant Program", (ii) were not fully vested or exercisable as of immediately prior to the Effective Time, (iii) had an exercise price of less than the Per Share Amount and (iv) are described on Schedule 6.5(b) (such Options, "Program 1 Options").

Under the restricted share program, Parent shall make all necessary arrangements so that each holder of a cancelled Program 1 Option (an "Optionee") can be awarded an entitlement from the Reuters Employee Share Ownership Trust (the "Trust") to a number of Reuters Group PLC ordinary shares, nominal value (pound) 0.25 per share (the "Ordinary Shares"), equal to the number of shares of Company Common Stock for which such holder's Program 1 Option would have become exercisable had it not been cancelled (the "Option Shares"),

-35-

multiplied by the Restricted Share Exchange Ratio (as hereinafter defined), rounding any fractional Ordinary Shares to the nearest whole share. The "Restricted Share Exchange Ratio" shall mean (i) the difference between the Per Share Amount and the per share exercise price of the Program 1 Option (the "Option Spread Amount") divided by (ii) the dollar equivalent (as determined by Parent on or about the applicable Vesting Date) of the average of the closing middle market quotation for an Ordinary Share derived from the Daily Official List of the London Stock Exchange for the ten consecutive trading days in the period ending five days prior to the Effective Time. The Ordinary Shares allocated to each Optionee shall vest on each Vesting Date in the same proportion that the Program 1 Options would have vested. "Vesting Date" means each date after the Effective Time on which the Optionee's Program 1 Options would have become exercisable had they not been cancelled as of the Effective Time. An Optionee shall have no rights with respect to any Ordinary Shares until the applicable Vesting Date.

Parent shall make all necessary arrangements so that on each Vesting Date the Trustee transfers to each Optionee (i) in the case of non-U.S. based employees, the Ordinary Shares vesting on such date or (ii) in the case of U.S. based employees, a number of American Depositary Shares representing such vested Ordinary Shares, rounded down to the nearest whole number of American Depositary Shares (in each case, the "Transferred Securities"). If, on the

trading day immediately preceding the date of receipt of such Transferred Securities, the reported last sale price per Transferred Security in the regular trading session on the principal national securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation system on which it is listed or admitted to trading multiplied by the total number of Transferred Securities transferred to an Optionee on the Vesting Date (converted to the U.S. dollar equivalent as determined by Parent on or about the applicable Vesting Date, in the case of Ordinary Shares) is less than the Option Spread Amount multiplied by the number of Option Shares that would have been issuable to the Optionee under the Program 1 Option on the date of receipt of such Transferred Securities, Parent shall pay, or cause to be paid, to the Optionee the difference in cash in the Optionee's local currency (such amount, the "Additional Payment").

The Program 1 Options will be governed by the additional terms set forth on Schedule 6.5(b).

The Company acknowledges and agrees that the restricted share program described in this Section 6.5(b) satisfies the requirements of Article II of the Company Stock Option Plan.

(c) At or immediately before the Effective Time, each then outstanding Warrant shall be converted into an obligation of the Surviving Corporation to pay upon exercise thereof, and a right of the holder thereof to receive in full satisfaction of such Warrant, cash in an amount in respect thereof equal to the product of (A) the Merger Consideration less the exercise price per share of Company Common Stock subject to such Warrant and (B) the number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such Warrant. Parent shall make the payment of the amount determined in accordance with the foregoing sentence after the Effective Time promptly upon any exercise by a holder of such Warrant in accordance with its terms.

-36-

Section 6.6 Company Benefit Plans.

(a) From the Effective Time through the first anniversary of the Effective Time (the "Benefit Continuation Period"), Parent shall, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation to, continue to provide to each individual who is a U.S.-based employee of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the Effective Time with the compensation and benefits set forth on Schedule 6.6(a)(i). If the employment of any U.S.-based employee is terminated during the Benefit Continuation Period without cause for reasons including, but not limited to, job elimination, reduction in work force, plant-closing, sale of business, reorganization and consolidation, Parent shall, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation to provide that employee with severance as set forth on Schedule 6.6(a)(ii) for each year of service with Parent and each year of service with the Company or its Subsidiaries, provided that in no event

will service that would not have been credited under a comparable plan of the Company be counted.

- (b) From the Effective Time through the six month anniversary of the Effective Time, Parent shall, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation to, continue to provide to each individual who is a non-U.S.-based employee of a foreign Subsidiary of the Company as of the Effective Time the compensation and benefits set forth on Schedule 6.6(b).
- (c) Parent shall cause each U.S.-based and, to the extent possible under the relevant jurisdiction, non-U.S.-based employee to be given credit for all service with the Company and its Subsidiaries for purposes of eligibility for participation and vesting under all benefit plans, policies and arrangements of Parent, the Surviving Corporation and its Subsidiaries, in which that employee is eligible to participate and to the extent such credit was given by the Company's applicable employee benefit plan, policy or arrangement.
- (d) With respect to each U.S.-based and, to the extent possible under the relevant jurisdiction, non-U.S.-based employee who becomes a participant in any welfare benefit plan of Parent, the Surviving Corporation or a Subsidiary of the Surviving Corporation, Parent shall cause any pre-existing medical condition restrictions contained in that welfare benefit plan to be waived with respect to that employee and his or her eligible dependents and shall cause the out-of-pocket payments of that employee and his or her eligible dependents made in the year during which the employee switches participation from the Company's welfare benefit plans to welfare benefit plans maintained by Parent to be credited under such welfare benefit plan for purposes of the deductible and maximum out-of-pocket limits applicable under that welfare benefit plan in the same manner that such payments would have been credited under that welfare benefit plan if the employee and his or her eligible dependents had been covered under such welfare benefit plan when those expenses were incurred.
- (e) Nothing in this Section 6.6 shall be deemed to in any way restrict the ability of the Surviving Corporation to terminate any employee or terminate, modify or institute any compensation arrangement or Benefit Plan of the Surviving Corporation.
- (f) If in the course of discussions between the parties, Parent determines that one or more Benefit Plans needs to be amended, modified or terminated, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall take all actions reasonably requested by Parent, to the extent permitted under

any such Benefit Plan, to so amend, modify or terminate, and, if reasonably necessary or appropriate, obtain applicable determination letters in connection with such action.

- (a) If any inquiry or proposal is received by, any information is requested from, or any negotiations or discussions are sought to be initiated or continued with the Company or its officers, directors, employees listed in the third paragraph of the Standstill Agreement (as defined in Section 9.7), investment bankers, attorneys, accountants or other agents, in each case, in connection with a Takeover Proposal (as defined below) (a "Takeover Proposal Interest"), then the Company shall promptly provide Parent with written notice of that Takeover Proposal Interest, which notice shall (i) identify the name of the person indicating such a Takeover Proposal Interest and the material terms and conditions of any Takeover Proposal and (ii) include a copy of any written Takeover Proposal Interest or Takeover Proposal that may have been submitted by such third party as part of its expression of Takeover Proposal Interest; provided that once any such notice is provided by the Company, the Company shall not have any further obligation to provide any updates or notices regarding either discussions with or information provided to that third party or discussions, negotiations or other developments with respect to that Takeover Proposal or any Takeover Proposal thereafter submitted by that third party, except as otherwise expressly set forth in clause (C) (iv) of Section 6.7(b). For purposes of this Agreement, "Takeover Proposal" means any proposal (including, without limitation, any proposal or offer to stockholders of the Company), other than a proposal by Parent or any of its affiliates, for a merger, consolidation, share exchange, business combination, reorganization, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution, tender offer or other similar transaction involving, or any purchase of, all or any significant portion of the consolidated assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, or 5 percent or more of the equity securities of the Company.
- (b) The Company agrees that it shall immediately cease and cause to be terminated all existing discussions, negotiations and communications with any person with respect to any Takeover Proposal and, except in compliance with and in the circumstances described in clause (C) of this Section 6.7(b), shall enforce and shall not terminate, amend, modify or waive any standstill provision of any confidentiality or standstill agreement between the Company and other parties entered into prior to the date hereof. The Company shall not, nor shall it permit any of its Subsidiaries to, nor shall it authorize or permit any officer, director, employee, agent or representative (including any investment banker, attorney, accountant or other advisor) of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, (i) solicit, initiate or facilitate any inquiries or the making of any Takeover Proposal, (ii) enter into any agreement with respect to any Takeover Proposal, (iii) participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding, or furnish or disclose to any person any nonpublic information or data with respect to or in furtherance of, or facilitate any effort or attempt to make or implement, any Takeover Proposal or (iv) enter into any agreement, arrangement or understanding requiring it to abandon, terminate or fail to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided, however, that
  - (A) the Company may take such actions as are required by the

- (B) until the earlier of (x) Purchaser's purchase of shares of Company Common Stock pursuant to the Offer and (y) obtaining the affirmative vote required to approve the Merger as set forth under Section 4.15, the Company may participate in discussions or negotiations with, or furnish information to, any person in response to an unsolicited bona fide written Takeover Proposal by any person made after the date hereof, but only if (1) the Board of Directors of the Company or the Special Committee determines, in good faith, that (x) taking such action is reasonably likely to be required by their fiduciary duties under applicable law and (y) taking that action has a reasonable prospect of resulting in the receipt by the Company of a Superior Proposal and (2) the Company shall have entered into a confidentiality and standstill agreement with that person that is at least as restrictive to that person as the Confidentiality Agreement and the Standstill Agreement; and
- (C) the Company may recommend any unsolicited bona fide written Takeover Proposal to the stockholders of the Company, may withdraw or modify its recommendation of the Offer, the Merger and this Agreement and may terminate this Agreement and enter into any agreement regarding a Takeover Proposal, if and only to the extent that, in the cases of this clause (C), (i) the Board of Directors of the Company or the Special Committee determines in good faith by resolution duly adopted that such Takeover Proposal is a Superior Proposal (as defined below), (ii) the Board of Directors of the Company or the Special Committee determines in good faith after consultation with and advice from its outside legal counsel that the failure to take such action would be reasonably likely to constitute a breach of the directors' fiduciary duties under applicable law, (iii) the Company shall have executed with the person making such Takeover Proposal a confidentiality agreement containing terms and provisions at least as restrictive to such third party as those contained in the Confidentiality Agreement and the Standstill Agreement and (iv) two business days have elapsed following the Company's delivery to Parent of written notice advising Parent that the Company's Board of Directors or the Special Committee has received a Superior Proposal, specifying the material terms and conditions of such Superior Proposal, identifying the person making such Superior Proposal and providing Parent a copy of any written Superior Proposal; provided, however, that the Company shall not terminate this Agreement or enter into an agreement with respect to a Superior Proposal unless in addition the Company (1) has provided Parent written notice that it intends to terminate this Agreement, (2) within a period of two business days following the delivery of the written notice referred

to in this clause (iv) above, if Parent proposes adjustments in the terms and conditions of this Agreement, but the Company Board of Directors or the Special Committee determines, in its good faith judgment (after receiving the advice of its financial advisor and after considering such proposed adjustments and negotiations relating thereto), that the Agreement as so proposed to be adjusted is not as favorable to the Company's stockholders as such Superior Proposal and (3) at least two business days after the Company has provided the written notice referred to in this clause (iv) above, the Company delivers to Parent (x) a written notice of termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section 6.7(b) and Section 8.1(d) and (y) a wire transfer of immediately available funds in the amount of the Termination Fee (as defined in Section 8.2(b)).

-39-

Without limiting the foregoing, it is understood that any violation of the restrictions set forth in the preceding sentence by any officer, director, employee listed in the third paragraph of the Standstill Agreement, agent or representative (including any investment banker, attorney, accountant or other advisor) of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall be deemed to be a breach of this paragraph by the Company. The Company shall promptly provide to Parent any non-public information regarding the Company provided to any other person which was not previously provided to Parent, such additional information to be provided no later than the date of provision of such information to such other person. For purposes of this Agreement, "Superior Proposal" means a bona fide written proposal made by a person other than Parent, Purchaser or an affiliate thereof (i) which is for a merger, consolidation, share exchange, business combination, reorganization, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution, tender offer or other similar transaction involving, or any purchase or acquisition of, (A) more than fifty percent of the voting power of the Company's capital stock or (B) all or substantially all of the consolidated assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, (ii) which is otherwise on terms which the Company's Board of Directors or the Special Committee determines in good faith after consultation with its independent financial advisors would result in a transaction that, if consummated, is more favorable to the Company's stockholders, from a financial point of view, than the Offer and Merger (or, if applicable, any proposal by Parent to amend the terms of this Agreement), taking into account all the terms and conditions of such proposal, the likelihood of the transaction contemplated by such proposal being completed, and all financial, regulatory, legal and other aspects of such proposal; provided, however, that no proposal shall be deemed to be a Superior Proposal if any financing required to consummate the proposal is not committed, and (iii) the failure of which to accept or recommend by the Company's Board of Directors or the Special Committee would be reasonably likely to constitute a breach of the directors' fiduciary duties under applicable law.

(c) The Company shall promptly inform the individuals or entities

referred to in the second sentence of Section 6.7(b) of the obligations undertaken in this Section 6.7. The Company shall promptly require and ensure that each person that has heretofore executed a confidentiality agreement in connection with its consideration of any Takeover Proposal return all confidential information heretofore furnished to such person by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

Section 6.8 Notification of Certain Matters. The Company will give prompt notice to Parent and Purchaser, and Parent (or Purchaser, as the case may be) will give prompt notice to the Company, of (a) any notice or other communication from any person alleging that the consent of that person is or may be required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (b) any notice or other communication from any Governmental Entity in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and (c) any actions, suits, claims, investigations or proceedings commenced or, to its knowledge, threatened against, relating to or involving or otherwise affecting the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Parent and any of its Subsidiaries, as the case may be, that, if pending on the date of this Agreement, would have been required to have been disclosed pursuant to any of the provisions of Article IV or V or that relate to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 6.9 Public Announcements. The Company, Parent and Purchaser will consult with each other and provide each other a meaningful opportunity to review and comment

-40-

on, before issuing any press releases or otherwise making any public statements with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and shall not issue any such press releases or make any such public statements prior to such consultation and review and comment process, except as may be required by applicable law or regulation or by obligations pursuant to any listing agreement with or the listing rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. or the UKLA. In addition, the Company shall give Parent and its counsel and Parent shall give the Company and its counsel a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on any documents to be filed with the SEC by the Company or Parent, as the case may be, or any other public statements of the Company or Parent, as the case may be, to be made, to the extent such filings or statements contain information concerning the Company's or Parent's, as the case may be, financial condition or results of operations, prior to their being filed with the SEC or publicly released, and the Company or Parent, as the case may be, agrees to give reasonable consideration to the comments of Parent and its counsel or the Company and its counsel, as the case may be, in respect thereof.

Section 6.10 State Takeover Laws. If any "fair price", "control share acquisition" or "business combination" statute or other takeover or tender offer statute or regulation shall become or is deemed to become applicable to

the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Tender and Voting Agreements, each of Parent, Purchaser and the Company and their respective Boards of Directors shall, subject to its fiduciary duties and in consultation with its outside legal counsel, take all action necessary to render such statute inapplicable to the foregoing.

Section 6.11 Indemnification and Insurance. Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation, and the Surviving Corporation hereby agrees, to do the following:

- (a) The Surviving Corporation shall indemnify and hold harmless all current and former officers and directors of the Company and of its Subsidiaries (the "Indemnified Parties)" to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law and to the same extent and subject to the same terms as such persons are currently indemnified by the respective Certificates of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Company and of its Subsidiaries and under any indemnification agreement with the Company, for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the Effective Time (including acts or omissions in connection with this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby).
- (b) The Certificate of Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation shall contain provisions no less favorable with respect to indemnification than are set forth in Article VIII of the Company's Certificate of Incorporation and Article VIII of the Company's Bylaws, as the same may exist on the date of this Agreement.
- (c) For a period of not less than six years from the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation shall provide directors' and officers' insurance and indemnification policy in favor of the Indemnified Parties in respect of acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the Effective Time (including acts or omissions in connection with this Agreement and the consummation of transactions contemplated hereby) of at least the same coverage (with carriers at least substantially comparable to in claims paying rating to the Company's existing carriers) containing terms and conditions which are not at least as advantageous to the Indemnified Parties

-41-

as those contained in the directors' and officers' insurance and indemnification policy maintained by the Company on the date of this Agreement; provided, that (i) unless Parent otherwise elects by written notice to the Company at least 7 days before the consummation of the Offer, the Company shall be entitled to purchase (or, if Parent so directs, the Company shall be required to purchase) a directors' and officers' insurance and indemnification policy in connection with the Surviving Corporation's obligations under this Section 6.11(c) at least 1 day before the final Expiration Date, so long as the cost of that policy does not exceed \$2 million and (ii) if the Company so elects or is so directed by Parent and this policy is so purchased, then the

Surviving Corporation shall be deemed to have satisfied its obligations under this Section 6.11(c) in full.

- (d) The provisions of this Section 6.11 are intended for the benefit of, and shall be enforceable by, all Indemnified Parties and their respective heirs and personal representatives, and such persons shall be entitled to reimbursement by the Surviving Corporation of fees and expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees) incurred to enforce the terms of this section.
- (e) In the event Parent or the Surviving Corporation or any of their respective successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any other person and shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfers all or substantially all its properties and assets to any person, then the obligations of Parent or the Surviving Corporation, as the case may be, that is set forth in this Section 6.11 shall survive such consolidation, merger or transfer, and then, and, in each such case, to the extent necessary, proper provision shall be made so that the successors and assigns of Parent or the Surviving Corporation, as the case may be, shall assume the obligations set forth in this Section 6.11. Parent shall be responsible for any breach by the Surviving Corporation of the provisions of this Section 6.11. Any Indemnified Party wishing to claim indemnification under this Section 6.11 from the Surviving Corporation (or Parent in accordance with the terms of this Section 6.11), upon learning of any such claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation, shall promptly notify the Surviving Corporation or Parent, as the case may be, thereof, but in no event shall the failure to give any such notice promptly affect the respective rights and obligations of the parties hereto under this Section 6.11, unless that failure materially prejudices the Surviving Corporation (and then only to the extent of that material prejudice). In the event of any such claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation (whether arising before or after the Effective Time), (i) Purchaser or the Surviving Corporation, as the case may be, shall have the right to assume the defense thereof and Purchaser or the Surviving Corporation, as the case may be, shall not be liable to such Indemnified Parties for any legal expenses of other counsel or any other expenses subsequently incurred by such Indemnified Parties in connection with the defense thereof unless counsel for the Indemnified Parties reasonably advises the Indemnified Parties that there are issues that raise conflicts of interest between Purchaser and the Indemnified Parties (or among the Indemnified Parties) that make such assumption unadvisable, in which case the Indemnified Parties may retain counsel, reasonably satisfactory to the Surviving Corporation or Parent, as the case may be, and Purchaser shall pay the reasonable legal expenses of such Indemnified Party or Parties (but in no event shall the Surviving Corporation be liable for the fees and expenses of more than one counsel (other than local counsel) for the Indemnified Parties, or, in the event of such a conflict of interest among the Indemnified Parties than for each such conflicted Indemnified Party), (ii) the Indemnified Parties will cooperate in the defense of any such matter and (iii) the

Surviving Corporation or Parent, as the case may be, shall not be liable for any settlement effected without its prior written consent; provided, that the Surviving Corporation or Parent, as the case may be, shall not have any obligation hereunder to any Indemnified Party when and if a court of competent jurisdiction shall ultimately determine, and such determination shall have become final, that the indemnification of such Indemnified Party in the manner contemplated hereby is prohibited by applicable law.

# ARTICLE VII CONDITIONS

Section 7.1 Conditions to Each Party's Obligation To Effect the Merger. The respective obligations of the parties to effect the Merger are subject to the satisfaction or waiver, on or prior to the Closing Date, of each of the following conditions:

- (a) Stockholder Approval. If required by applicable law, this Agreement (insofar as it relates to the Merger) and the Merger shall have been approved and adopted by the requisite affirmative vote or consent of the holders of the shares of Company Common Stock in accordance with applicable law, and the Company's Certificate of Incorporation and the Company's Bylaws.
- (b) Purchase of Shares. Purchaser shall have accepted for purchase and paid for shares of Company Common Stock pursuant to the Offer.
- (c) No Injunctions or Restraints. No statute, rule or regulation shall have been enacted, promulgated or otherwise be in effect by any Governmental Entity and no temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction or other order issued by any court of competent jurisdiction or other legal restraint or prohibition preventing or impairing the consummation of the Merger in any material respect shall be in effect on the Closing Date.

## ARTICLE VIII TERMINATION

Section 8.1 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated and the Offer and Merger may be abandoned at:

- (a) Any time before the Effective Time, whether before or after stockholder approval thereof, by mutual written consent of Parent and the Company;
- (b) By either Parent or the Company (i) if, prior to the purchase of the Company Common Stock in the Offer, a court of competent jurisdiction or other Governmental Entity shall have issued an order, decree or ruling or taken any other action, in each case permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the Offer or the Merger, and that judgment, injunction, order or decree shall have become final and nonappealable, or (ii) if the Offer has not

been consummated by October 17, 2003 (subject to the right of either party to extend such date in one-month increments upon no less than 5 days and no more than 15 days prior written notice to the other party, for an aggregate extension of no more than nine months, in all cases only in the circumstance where the Offer has not been consummated by October 17, 2003 due (whether in whole or in part) to the failure of any of the conditions set forth in any of

-43-

clauses (ii), (iii) (c), (iii) (e) or (iii) (f) of Annex A) (either such date, the "End Date"); provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to clause (ii) of this Section 8.1(b) shall not be available to any party whose failure to fulfill any obligation under this Agreement has been the cause of, or resulted in, the failure of the Offer to be consummated by such date;

- (c) By Parent, at any time prior to the purchase of the Company Common Stock pursuant to the Offer, if (i) the Company's Board of Directors shall have withdrawn, modified, or changed its recommendation in respect of this Agreement, the Merger or the Offer in a manner adverse to the Merger or the Offer, to Parent or to the Purchaser, (ii) the Company's Board of Directors shall have recommended any proposal other than by Parent or the Purchaser in respect of a Takeover Proposal, (iii) (A) the Company shall have continued to violate or breach in any material respect any of its obligations under Section 6.7 after 10 business days' prior written notice thereof from Parent or (B) the Company shall have violated or breached in any material respect any of its obligations under Section 6.7 or (iv) the Company shall have breached any representation, warranty, covenant or other agreement contained in this Agreement that would give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in paragraph (b) or (c) of Annex A hereto, and that breach cannot be cured or remedied by the End Date, but only after 10 days' prior written notice of that breach by Parent to the Company; or
- (d) By the Company (i) pursuant to and in compliance with Section 6.7(c), (ii) if the Purchaser shall have failed to commence the Offer within ten business days following the date of this Agreement, unless such failure to commence the Offer is due in any way to any action or failure to act on the part of the Company or (iii) if, at any time prior to the consummation of the Offer, Parent or the Purchaser shall have breached in any material respect any of the representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement, and such material breach cannot be cured or remedied by the End Date, but only after 10 days' prior written notice of that breach by the Company to Parent.

Section 8.2 Effect of Termination.

(a) In the event of the termination of this Agreement as provided in Section 8.1 (other than clause (a) thereof), written notice thereof shall

forthwith be given to the other party or parties specifying the provision hereof pursuant to which such termination is made, and this Agreement shall forthwith become null and void (except for the last sentence of Section 6.3, this Section 8.2 and Article IX, which shall survive such termination) and there shall be no liability on the part of Parent, the Purchaser or the Company, except (i) as set forth in Sections 6.3 and 8.2, and (ii) subject to Section 8.2(f), nothing herein shall relieve any party from liability for any willful breach of this Agreement or from fraud.

- (b) If any of the following shall occur:
- (i) Parent shall have terminated this Agreement pursuant to any of Section 8.1(c)(i), Section 8.1(c)(ii) or Section 8.1(c)(iii)(A),
- (ii) the Company shall have terminated this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1(d) (i),
  - -44-
- (iii) if both (x) Parent or the Company shall have terminated this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1(b)(ii) and at any time between the commencement of the Offer and the date of such termination, there shall have been commenced, publicly proposed or communicated to the holders of shares of Company Common Stock a Takeover Proposal and (y) a Qualifying Takeover Event shall have occurred within 9 months following that termination, or
- (iv) if Parent shall have terminated this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1(c)(iii)(B), and a Qualifying Takeover Event shall have occurred within 9 months following that termination,

then the Company shall pay to Parent a termination fee (the "Termination Fee") of \$5.5 million, which amount shall be payable by wire transfer to such account as Parent may designate in writing to the Company. The Company shall pay the Termination Fee to Parent (x) within 5 business days of any termination described in Section 8.2(b)(i), (y) as a precondition to any termination described in Section 8.2(b)(ii) (as further contemplated by Section 6.7(b)) and (z) on the date that the Company shall have executed and delivered a definitive agreement providing for the Qualifying Takeover Event (or on the date that the relevant person becomes the beneficial owner of the Company Common Stock that gave rise to the Qualifying Takeover Event, as applicable) in connection with any termination described in either Section 8.2(b)(iii) or Section 8.2(b)(iv).

(c) For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Qualifying Takeover Event" shall mean that either of the following shall have occurred: (i) the Company shall have entered into a definitive agreement with respect to any Takeover Proposal providing for the purchase or acquisition of more than fifty percent of either (A) the voting power of the Company's capital stock or (B)

the assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries (judged either by their fair market value or the consolidated revenue of the Company that is generated therefrom, whichever percentage is higher) or (ii) any third party shall have otherwise become the beneficial owner of more than fifty percent of the voting power of the Company Common Stock.

- (d) Except as provided in this Section 8.2, all fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Offer, the Merger, this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be paid by the party incurring such fees or expenses, whether or not the Offer or the Merger is consummated.
- (e) The Company acknowledges that the agreements contained in paragraphs (b) and (c) of this Section 8.2 are an integral part of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and that, without these agreements, Parent and Purchaser would not enter into this Agreement; accordingly, if the Company fails to pay promptly any amount due pursuant to this Section 8.2 and, in order to obtain such payment, Parent or any of its affiliates commences a suit that results in a judgment against the Company for any such amount, the Company shall also pay to Parent or such affiliate their costs and expenses (including attorneys' fees) in connection with such suit, together with interest on the amount of the fee at the base rate of Citibank, N.A. from the date such payment was due under this Agreement.

-45-

(f) Except in the case of any termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1(c)(iii)(A), any payment by Company of the full Termination Fee pursuant to this Section 8.2 shall relieve the Company, each of its affiliates and each of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents and representatives from any further liability, obligation or damages under any provision of this Agreement or otherwise in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby.

## ARTICLE IX MISCELLANEOUS

Section 9.1 Nonsurvival of Representations and Warranties. None of the representations and warranties in this Agreement or in any instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement will survive the Effective Time. This Section 9.1 shall not limit any covenant or agreement of a party that by its terms expressly contemplates performance after the Effective Time or the survival of this Article IX after the Effective Time.

Section 9.2 Amendment. This Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto at any time before or after approval of the matters presented in connection with the Merger by the stockholders of the Company, but, after any such approval, no amendment will be made which by law requires further approval by such stockholders, or which reduces the amount or changes the kind of

consideration to be received in exchange for the shares of Company Common Stock, without such further approval. This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the parties hereto.

Section 9.3 Extension; Waiver. At any time prior to the Effective Time, the parties hereto may to the extent legally allowed, (i) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other parties hereto, (ii) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto and (iii) waive compliance with any of the agreements or conditions contained herein. Any such extension or waiver will be valid only if set forth in a prior written instrument signed on behalf of the party against whom the extension or waiver is to be effective by a duly authorized officer of such party setting forth in detail the extension or waiver.

Section 9.4 Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder will be in writing and will be deemed given if delivered personally, telecopied (which is confirmed) or mailed by registered or certified mail (return receipt requested) to the parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as is specified by like notice):

### (a) if to Purchaser or Parent to:

Proton Acquisition Corporation c/o Reuters America Inc. 3 Times Square - 20th Floor New York, New York 10036 United States of America Attention: General Counsel Telecopy No.: 646-223-4237

-46-

Reuters Group Plc
4th Floor
85 Fleet Street
London EC4P 4AJ
United Kingdom
Attention: General Counsel
Telecopy No.: 011-44-207-542-5896

with copies to:

Sullivan & Cromwell llp
125 Broad Street
New York, New York 10004
Attention: John Evangelakos
Stephen M. Kotran

Telecopy No.: (212) 558-3588

(b) if to the Company, to:

Multex.com, Inc.
100 William Street
7th Floor
New York, NY 10038
Attention: General Counsel
Telecopy No.: (212) 607-2400

with copies to:

Davis, Polk & Wardwell 450 Lexington Avenue New York, New York 10017 Attention: Phillip Mills Telecopy No.: (212) 450-3618

or to any other address or facsimile number as that party may hereafter specify for this purpose by notice to the other parties. All such notices, requests and other communications shall be deemed received on the date of receipt by the recipient thereof if received before 5 p.m. on a business day in the place of receipt. Otherwise, any such notice, request or communication shall be deemed not to have been received until the next succeeding business day in the place of receipt.

Section 9.5 Interpretation. When a reference is made in this Agreement to a Section, such reference will be to a Section of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and will not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. This Agreement shall be deemed to include the Company Disclosure Schedule and the other Annexes hereto and all references to "herein", "hereof", "hereunder", and all similar references shall include both the Company Disclosure Schedule and the other Annexes hereto. Whenever the words "include", "includes"

-47-

or "including" are used in this Agreement they will be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation". References to the "Company" include the Subsidiaries of the Company unless the context clearly requires otherwise. The phrases "the date of this Agreement", "the date hereof" and terms of similar import, unless the context otherwise requires, will be deemed to refer to February 17, 2003. As used in this Agreement, the term "affiliate" shall have the meaning set forth in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act; provided that in no event will Parent or Purchaser, on the one hand, or the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, on the other, be considered an affiliate of the other such

party(ies). The phrase "to the knowledge of the Company" and similar phrases refer, as to any given fact, to the actual knowledge of that fact by the executive officers and directors of the Company. As used in this Agreement, any reference to a "Company Material Adverse Effect" means a material adverse effect on the business, assets, liabilities, operations, results of operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, except any such effect resulting from or arising in connection with (i) (A) the exercise of any termination or other right by any third party to, or the loss of any right of (or the imposition of any obligation on) the Company or any Subsidiary under, any Contract listed on Section 4.4 of the Company Disclosure Schedule (and a true and accurate copy of which has been made available by the Company to Parent before the date of this Agreement), but only if and to the extent that the exercise or loss of the foregoing right or the imposition of the foregoing obligation actually resulted or potentially could result from the change of control of the Company that would occur as a result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or (B) any other expiration of the term, or other termination by any third party, of any Contract listed on the Company Disclosure Schedule in accordance with its terms, but only if and to the extent that there is clear evidence that the failure to renew, or the decision to terminate, any such Contract is primarily attributable to the transactions contemplated hereby, (ii) changes, circumstances, or conditions affecting the financial services industry or the information services industry generally, (iii) changes in general United States or global economic, regulatory or political conditions or in any financial market or in the financial markets generally, (iv) changes in applicable law or regulation or in GAAP after the date of this Agreement or (v) any act of war or terrorism (other than any act of terrorism directly upon or in the vicinity of the facilities, systems, operations or general personnel of the Company and/or its Subsidiaries).

Section 9.6 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, all of which will be considered one and the same agreement and will become effective when two or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other parties, it being understood that all parties need not sign the same counterpart.

Section 9.7 Entire Agreement; No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement (including the annexes and the documents and the instruments referred to herein), the Confidentiality Agreement and the letter agreement, dated January 29, 2003, between the Company and Reuters America Inc. (the "Standstill Agreement") (a) constitute the entire agreement, and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof, and (b) other than Section 6.11, are not intended to confer upon any person other than the parties hereto and thereto any rights or remedies hereunder or thereunder.

CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTS MADE, EXECUTED, DELIVERED AND PERFORMED WHOLLY WITHIN THE STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT REGARD TO ANY APPLICABLE PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAW, EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE REQUIRED BY THE DGCL.

Section 9.9 Specific Performance. The parties hereto agree that if any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached, irreparable damage would occur, no adequate remedy at law would exist and damages would be difficult to determine, and that the parties will be entitled to specific performance of the terms hereof, in addition to any other remedy at law or equity.

Section 9.10 Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder will be assigned by any of the parties hereto (whether by operation of law or otherwise) without the prior written consent of the other parties; provided, however, that Purchaser may assign this Agreement and any of its rights, interests and obligations hereunder to any direct or indirect Subsidiary of Parent without such prior written consent, but no such transfer or assignment shall relieve Purchaser of its obligations under the Offer or prejudice the rights of tendering stockholders to receive payment for Shares validly tendered and accepted for payment pursuant to the Offer. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement will be binding upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

Section 9.11 Validity. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement will not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provisions hereof, which will remain in full force and effect. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid or incapable of being enforced, the parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in order that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement may be consummated as originally contemplated to the fullest extent possible.

Section 9.12 Procedure for Termination, Amendment, Extension or Waiver. A termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1, an amendment of this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.2 or an extension or waiver pursuant to Section 9.3 shall, in order to be effective, require (a) in the case of Parent or Purchaser, action by its duly authorized designee, (b) in the case of the Company before consummation of the Offer, action by the Special Committee or the duly authorized designee thereof and (c) in the case of the Company following consummation of the Offer, action by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Independent Directors, if any, shall be required to (i) amend or terminate this Agreement by the Company, (ii) exercise or waive any of the Company's rights or remedies under this Agreement, (iii) extend the time for performance of Parent's and Purchaser's respective obligations under this Agreement, (iv) amend the Company's Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws or (v) approve any transactions between the Company and any of its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and Parent, Purchaser or any of their respective affiliates, on the other. The failure of any party to assert any of its rights hereunder shall not constitute a waiver of such rights.

Section 9.13 Jurisdiction. Each of Parent, the Purchaser and the Company hereby expressly and irrevocably submits to the non-exclusive personal jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the District of Delaware and to the jurisdiction of any other competent court of the State of Delaware (collectively, the "Delaware Courts"), preserving, however, all rights of removal to such federal court under 28 U.S.C. Section 1441, in connection with all disputes arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby and agrees not to commence any litigation relating thereto except in such courts. Each such party hereby waives the right to any other jurisdiction or venue for any litigation arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby to which any of them may be entitled by reason of its present or future domicile. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each such party agrees that each of the other parties shall have the right to bring any action or proceeding for enforcement of a judgment entered by the Delaware Courts in any other court or jurisdiction.

Section 9.14 Company Disclosure Schedule. The parties hereto agree that any reference in a particular Section of the Company Disclosure Schedule (e.g., Section 4.4 thereof) shall only be deemed to be an exception to (or, as applicable, a disclosure for purposes of) (a) the representations and warranties (or covenants, as applicable) of the Company that are contained in the corresponding Section of this Agreement (i.e., Section 4.4 hereof) and (b) any other representation(s) and warranty(ies) of the Company that is (are) contained in this Agreement, but only if the relevance of that reference as an exception to (or, as applicable, a disclosure for purposes of) such representations(s) and warranty(ies) would be readily apparent to a reasonable person who has read that reference and such representation(s) and warranty(ies).

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]

-50-

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parent, Purchaser and the Company have caused this Agreement to be signed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first written above.

REUTERS GROUP PLC

By: /s/ Christopher Ahearn

\_\_\_\_\_

Name: Christopher Ahearn Title: Attorney-in-Fact

PROTON ACQUISITION CORPORATION

By: /s/ Christopher Ahearn

-----

Name: Christopher Ahearn

Title: President

MULTEX.COM, INC.

By: /s/ Isaak Karaev

-----

Name: Isaak Karaev Title: Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer

-51-

ANNEX A

to

Agreement and Plan of Merger

Conditions of the Offer. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Offer, subject to any applicable rules and regulations of the SEC, including Rule 14e-1(c) promulgated under the Exchange Act (relating to Parent's obligation to pay for or return tendered shares of Company Common Stock promptly after termination or withdrawal of the Offer), Purchaser shall not be required to accept for payment or pay for, or may delay the acceptance for payment of or payment for, any tendered shares of Company Common Stock, if (i) there shall not have been properly and validly tendered pursuant to the Offer and not withdrawn prior to the expiration of the Offer a number of shares of Company Common Stock which, together with the number of shares of Company Common Stock owned by Parent, Purchaser or any of their respective affiliates, if any, that represents at least a majority of the total issued and outstanding shares of Company Common Stock (assuming the exercise of all options, warrants and other rights to purchase shares of Company Common Stock which are then or which will be within six months thereafter vested and exercisable) (the "Minimum Condition"), (ii) any applicable waiting period under the HSR Act shall not have terminated or expired or any other comparable provisions under

any applicable pre-merger notification laws or regulations of foreign jurisdictions shall not have terminated, expired or otherwise been satisfied or (iii) on the relevant Expiration Date, any of the following events shall have occurred and be continuing:

- (a) (i) the representations and warranties of the Company contained in the Merger Agreement that are qualified by, or contain exceptions relating to, materiality, Company Material Adverse Effect or any similar standard or qualification, were not true and correct in all respects as of the date of this Agreement, except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such earlier date, (ii) the representations and warranties of the Company that are not so qualified or do not contain any such exceptions, were not true and correct in all material respects as of the date of this Agreement, except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such earlier date, or (iii) the Company shall have breached or failed to perform in any material respect any of its obligations under the Merger Agreement;
- (b) except for the Agreed Representations (as defined in this Annex A) and the representations and warranties contained in Sections 4.6(a) and 4.6 (b) of the Merger Agreement, the representations and warranties of the Company that are contained in the Merger Agreement (disregarding, for this purpose, all exceptions in those representations and warranties relating to materiality, Company Material Adverse Effect or any similar standard or qualification), are not true and correct on either (as applicable) (i) the relevant Expiration Date if a Condition Termination Date has not previously occurred or (ii) on the Condition Termination Date, in each case, as if made at and as of that date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of that earlier date), and, in either such case, those inaccuracies have had or are reasonably likely to have, whether individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect as of the relevant Expiration Date (in the case of clause (i) of this condition) or as of the Condition

A-1

Termination Date (in the case of clause (ii) and which inaccuracies, in the case of clause (ii), shall not have been previously cured to the extent sufficient to satisfy this condition by the relevant Expiration Date);

(c) (i) each of the Agreed Representations of the Company that are contained in the Merger Agreement that are qualified by, or contain exceptions relating to, materiality, Company Material Adverse Effect or any similar standard or qualification, are not true and correct in all respects as of the relevant Expiration Date, as if made on and as of that date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of that earlier date), or (ii) each of the Agreed Representations

of the Company that are contained in the Merger Agreement that are not so qualified or do not contain any such exceptions, are not true and correct in all material respects as of the relevant Expiration Date, as if made on and as of that date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of that earlier date);

- (d) the representations and warranties contained in Sections 4.6(a) and 4.6(b) of the Merger Agreement (disregarding, for this purpose, all exceptions in those representations and warranties relating to materiality, Company Material Adverse Effect or any similar standard or qualification), are not true and correct on the relevant Expiration Date, as if made on and as of that date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of that earlier date), and any such inaccuracy(ies) has (have) had or is (are) reasonably likely to have, whether individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect as of the relevant Expiration Date;
- (e) there shall have been instituted, pending or threatened in writing any Action that has been brought by any Governmental Entity which has a reasonable prospect of success: (i) challenging or seeking to, or which is reasonably likely to, make illegal or otherwise directly or indirectly restrain or prohibit the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Offer or the Merger; (ii) seeking to obtain any material damages relating to the transactions contemplated by the Offer or the Merger; (iii) seeking to prohibit, or impose any material limitations on, Parent's or Purchaser's ownership or operation of all or any material portion of their or the Company's business, license or other assets (including the business, license or other assets of their respective affiliates and Subsidiaries), or to compel Parent or Purchaser to dispose of or hold separate all or any material portion of Parent's or Purchaser's or the Company's business or assets (including the business or assets of their respective affiliates and Subsidiaries) as a result of the transactions contemplated by the Offer or the Merger; (iv) seeking to impose material limitations on the ability of Parent or Purchaser effectively to acquire or hold or to exercise full rights of ownership of the shares of Company Common Stock including, without limitation, the right to vote the shares of Company Common Stock purchased by them or their affiliates on an equal basis with all other shares of Company Common Stock on all matters properly presented to the stockholders; or (v) seeking to require divestiture by Parent, Purchaser or any other affiliate of Parent of any shares of Company Common Stock;
- (f) any event, change or development shall have occurred or been discovered before (i) the relevant Expiration Date if a Condition Termination Date has not

previously occurred or (ii) the Condition Termination Date, which, in either such case, on or before that date, has had or is reasonably likely to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect, and which Company Material Adverse Effect, in the case of clause (ii), shall not have been cured by the relevant Expiration Date;

- (g) any applicable law or regulation makes acceptance for payment of, and payment for, the shares of Company Common Stock pursuant to the Offer illegal or otherwise prohibited;
- (h) any judgment, injunction, order or decree of any court or Governmental Authority having competent jurisdiction enjoins Purchaser from accepting for payment of, and paying for, the shares of Company Common Stock pursuant to the Offer or the Company or Parent from consummating the Merger is entered;
- (i) the Merger Agreement shall have been terminated by the Company or Parent or Purchaser in accordance with its terms, or Parent or Purchaser shall have reached an agreement in writing with the Company providing for termination of the Offer;

Without limiting the parties' respective rights and obligations under Article VIII of the Merger Agreement, the foregoing conditions are for the sole benefit of Parent and Purchaser and may be asserted by Parent or Purchaser regardless of the circumstances (including any action or inaction by Parent or Purchaser) giving rise to such condition or may be waived by Parent or Purchaser, by express and specific action to that effect, in whole or in part at any time and from time to time in its sole discretion, except that Parent and Purchaser may not waive the Minimum Condition without the prior written consent of the Company. The failure by Parent or Purchaser at any time to exercise any of the foregoing rights will not be deemed a waiver of any such right, the waiver of any such right with respect to particular facts and circumstances will not be deemed a waiver with respect to any other facts and circumstances, and each such right will be deemed an ongoing right that may be asserted at any time and from time to time.

Capitalized terms used, but not defined, herein shall have the meaning given to such terms in the Merger Agreement. For purposes of the Merger Agreement and this Annex A, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

- (i) "Condition Termination Date" shall mean June 17, 2003, but only if, on June 17, 2003, any condition set forth in any of clauses (ii), (iii) (e), (iii) (g) or (iii) (h) of this Annex A shall not have been satisfied, other than such as is primarily due to or primarily arising out of any act or omission for which the Company or any of its affiliates are responsible; and
- (ii) "Agreed Representations" shall mean the representations and warranties of the Company that are contained in Sections 4.2, 4.3, 4.4(i), 4.4(iii), 4.7, 4.9(g), 4.13(b), 4.15, 4.16 and 4.20 of the Merger

#### STOCKHOLDER TENDER AND VOTING AGREEMENT

### Among

# REUTERS GROUP PLC

# PROTON ACQUISITION CORPORATION

and

### THE INDIVIDUALS LISTED ON THE SIGNATURE PAGES HEREOF

Dated as of February 17, 2003

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# ARTICLE I

### TENDER OF SHARES; VOTING; EXPIRATION

Section Section Section Section	1.2 1.3	Tender of Shares
		ARTICLE II
		REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE STOCKHOLDER
Section	2.1	Valid Title2
Section	2.2	Authority; Noncontravention2
Section	2.3	Total Shares3
Section	2.4	Finder's Fees3

#### ARTICLE III

#### REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND PURCHASER

Section 3	3.1	Corporate Power and Authority3
		ARTICLE IV
		COVENANTS OF THE STOCKHOLDER
Section 4 Section 4		Covenants of the Stockholder4 Further Assurances4
		ARTICLE V
		MISCELLANEOUS
Section 5	5.1	Expenses5
Section 5	5.2	Specific Performance5
Section 5	5.3	Notices5
Section 5	5.4	Amendments6
Section 5	5.5	Assignment6
Section 5	5.6	Governing Law6
Section 5	5.7	Counterparts6
Section 5	5.8	Interpretation
Section 5	5.9	Stop Transfer Restriction7
Section 5	5.10	Entire Agreement; No Third Party Beneficiaries7
Section 5	5.11	Stockholder Capacity7
Section 5	5.12	Validity7
Section 5	5.13	Nonsurvival of Representations and Warranties8
Section 5	5.14	Jurisdiction8

ii

#### STOCKHOLDER TENDER AND VOTING AGREEMENT

STOCKHOLDER TENDER AND VOTING AGREEMENT dated as of February 17, 2003 (as the same may be amended from time to time, this "Agreement") among Reuters Group PLC, a public limited company organized under the laws of England and Wales ("Parent"), Proton Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware corporation and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("Purchaser"), and each individual listed on the signature pages of this Agreement (each, a "Stockholder" and collectively, the "Stockholders"), each a beneficial owner of Company Common Stock of Multex.com, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company").

WHEREAS, in order to induce Parent and Purchaser to enter into the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of the date hereof with the Company (the "Merger Agreement"), Parent and Purchaser have requested that each Stockholder, and each Stockholder has agreed, to enter into this Agreement;

WHEREAS, each Stockholder, Parent and Purchaser desire to make certain representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in connection with this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in the Merger Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements contained herein, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

# ARTICLE I TENDER OF SHARES; VOTING; EXPIRATION

Tender of Shares. Promptly, but in any event no later Section 1.1 than fifteen (15) business days following the commencement of the Offer, each Stockholder shall tender (or cause the relevant record holder(s) to tender) in the Offer, and, to the extent consistent with applicable law, not withdraw or cause to be withdrawn, any or all shares of Company Common Stock currently beneficially owned by that Stockholder and any additional shares of Company Common Stock with respect to which that Stockholder becomes the beneficial owner (including, without limitation, whether by purchase, by the exercise of Options or otherwise) after the date of this Agreement (collectively, but excluding any shares that are disposed of in compliance with Section 4.1(a), the "Subject Shares"), provided, however that (i) the Stockholder shall not be required for purposes of this Agreement to exercise any unexercised Options held by that Stockholder; and (ii) a Stockholder shall not have any obligation under this Section 1.1 to tender his Subject Shares into the Offer if that tender would cause him to incur liability under Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act.

Section 1.2 Voting. If his Subject Shares have not been previously accepted for payment and paid for by Purchaser pursuant to the Offer, then each Stockholder hereby agrees that at any meeting of the stockholders of the Company, however called, or in any written consent in lieu thereof, he shall, or shall cause the record holder(s) of his Subject Shares, to vote his Subject Shares (i) in favor of the Merger and (ii) against any action or agreement that would impede, interfere with, delay, postpone, discourage or adversely affect the Merger or the Offer, including, but not limited to any agreement or arrangement related to a Takeover Proposal.

Section 1.3 Proxy. Each Stockholder hereby grants to Purchaser, and to each officer of the Parent, a proxy to vote his Subject Shares as indicated in Section 1.2. Each Stockholder intends this proxy to be, and this proxy is,

irrevocable and coupled with an interest and each Stockholder will immediately take such further action or execute such other instruments as may be necessary to effectuate the intent of this proxy and hereby revokes any proxy previously granted by him with respect to his Subject Shares.

Section 1.4 Expiration. This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the respective parties hereto under this Agreement shall terminate, and be of no further force or effect, on the earliest to occur of (A) the Effective Time, (B) the termination of this Agreement by written notice from the Parent to the Stockholder and (C) the termination of the Merger Agreement in accordance with its terms; provided that Sections 5.1, 5.3, 5.6, 5.8, 5.10, 5.11, 5.12, 5.13 and 5.14 shall survive any such termination.

#### ARTICLE II

#### REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE STOCKHOLDER

Each Stockholder represents and warrants to Parent and Purchaser as to himself, severally and not jointly, as follows:

Section 2.1 Valid Title. He is the sole, true, lawful and beneficial owner of his Subject Shares with no restrictions on his rights of disposition pertaining thereto, except for any applicable restrictions on transfer under the Securities Act.

Section 2.2 Authority; Non-Contravention. He has the requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by him and the consummation by him of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary action (including any consultation, approval or other action by or with any other person). This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by that Stockholder and constitutes a valid and binding obligation of such Stockholder, enforceable against him in accordance with its terms, subject, as to enforcement, to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, fraudulent conveyance and similar laws relating to creditors' rights and to general principles of equity. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by that Stockholder does not, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated of him by this Agreement and compliance by him with the provisions of this Agreement will not, conflict with or result in any violation of, or default (with or without

2

notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to a right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any obligation or to a loss of a material benefit under, or result in the creation of any lien upon any of his properties or assets under, any provision of applicable law or regulation or of any agreement, judgment, injunction, order, decree or other instrument binding on the Stockholder. No consent, approval, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with or exemption by any Governmental

Entity is required by or with respect to him in connection with his execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation by him of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except for applicable requirements, if any, under the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder.

- Section 2.3 Total Shares. Except to the extent of any Subject Shares acquired after the date hereof (which shall become Subject Shares upon that acquisition), the number of shares of Company Common Stock set forth on the signature page hereto opposite the name of that Stockholder are the only shares of Company Common Stock beneficially owned by him, on the date of this Agreement. Other than the Subject Shares set forth on the signature page and on Schedule 2.3, he does not own any shares or options to purchase or rights to subscribe for or otherwise acquire any securities of the Company and has no other interest in or voting rights with respect to any securities of the Company.
- Section 2.4 Finder's Fees. No investment banker, broker or finder is entitled to a commission or fee from Parent, Purchaser, the Company or any of their respective affiliates in respect of this Agreement based upon any arrangement or agreement made by or on behalf of the Stockholder, other than Bear, Stearns & Co., Inc. whose fees and expenses will be paid by the Company.
- Section 2.5 Proxy. None of the Subject Shares are subject to any voting agreement or proxy on the date of this Agreement, except pursuant to this Agreement.

# ARTICLE III REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND PURCHASER

Parent and Purchaser represent and warrant to each Stockholder that:

Section 3.1 Corporate Power and Authority. Parent and Purchaser each have all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of each of Parent and Purchaser. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by each of Parent and Purchaser and constitutes a valid and binding obligation of each of Parent and Purchaser, respectively, enforceable against each of them in accordance with its terms, subject, as to enforcement, to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, fraudulent conveyance and similar laws relating to creditors' rights and to general principles of equity.

#### COVENANTS OF THE STOCKHOLDER

- Section 4.1 Covenants of the Stockholder. Each Stockholder agrees as to himself, severally and not jointly, as follows:
  - (a) Except as contemplated by the terms of this Agreement, he shall not:
    - (i) sell, transfer, pledge, assign or otherwise dispose of, or enter into any contract, option or other arrangement or understanding with respect to the sale, transfer, pledge, assignment or other disposition of, his Subject Shares to any person, other than Purchaser or Purchaser's designee; provided, however, that (A) the restrictions contained in this Section 4.1(a)(i) shall terminate on May 17, 2003 with respect to each Stockholder (except Isaak Karaev) and (B) three months prior to the expiration of any Option in accordance with its terms, the Stockholder who is the holder of that Option may sell, transfer, pledge, assign or otherwise dispose of, or enter into any contract, option or other arrangement or understanding with respect to the sale, transfer, pledge, assignment or other disposition of, any Subject Shares in connection with the exercise (cashless or otherwise) of that Option in an amount that is sufficient to satisfy the payment of any transaction costs and any tax liability incurred by the Stockholder in connection with such exercise. Any attempted transfer or other disposition in violation of this Section 4.1(a)(i) shall be null and void;
    - (ii) enter into, or otherwise subject his Subject Shares to, any voting arrangement, whether by proxy, voting agreement, voting trust, power-of-attorney or otherwise, with respect to his Subject Shares; or
    - (iii) take any other action that would in any way restrict, limit or interfere with the performance of his obligations hereunder or the transactions contemplated to be performed by him hereunder.
- (b) He hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, and agrees to prevent the exercise of, any rights of appraisal or rights to dissent in connection with the Merger that he may have with respect to his Subject Shares.
- Section 4.2 Further Assurances. Each Stockholder will, from time to time, execute and deliver, or cause to be executed and delivered, such additional or further transfers, assignments, endorsements, consents and other instruments as Parent or Purchaser may reasonably request for the purpose of effectively carrying out the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to vest the power to vote his Subject Shares as contemplated by Section 1.3. Parent and Purchaser jointly and severally agree to use reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions necessary to comply promptly with all legal requirements that may be imposed with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

# ARTICLE V MISCELLANEOUS

Section 5.1 Expenses. All costs and expenses incurred by any party in connection with this Agreement shall be paid by the party incurring such cost or expense.

Section 5.2 Specific Performance. The parties hereto agree that if any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached, irreparable damage would occur, no adequate remedy at law would exist and damages would be difficult to determine, and that the parties will be entitled to specific performance of the terms hereof, in addition to any other remedy at law or equity.

Section 5.3 Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder will be in writing and will be deemed given if delivered personally, telecopied (which is confirmed) or mailed by registered or certified mail (return receipt requested) to the parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as is specified by like notice):

#### (a) if to Purchaser or Parent to:

Proton Acquisition Corporation c/o Reuters America, Inc. 3 Times Square - 20th Floor New York, New York 10036 United States of America Attention: General Counsel Telecopy No.: 646-223-4237

Reuters Group PLC
4th Floor
85 Fleet Street
London
United Kingdom
Attention: General Counsel
Telecopy No.: 011-44-207-542-5896

# with copies to:

Sullivan & Cromwell llp
125 Broad Street
New York, New York 10004
Attention: John Evangelakos
Stephen M. Kotran
Telecopy No.: (212) 558-3588

(b) if to any given Stockholder, to the relevant Stockholder at his address on the books of the Company.:

with copies to:

Davis, Polk & Wardwell 450 Lexington Avenue New York, New York 10017 Attention: Phillip Mills Telecopy No.: (212) 450-3618

or to any other address or facsimile number as that party may hereafter specify for this purpose by notice to the other parties. All such notices, requests and other communications shall be deemed received on the date of receipt by the recipient thereof if received before 5 p.m. on a business day in the place of receipt. Otherwise, any such notice, request or communication shall be deemed not to have been received until the next succeeding business day in the place of receipt.

Section 5.4 Amendments. This Agreement may not be modified, amended, altered or supplemented, except upon the execution and delivery of a written agreement executed by each of the parties hereto.

Section 5.5 Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder will be assigned by any of the parties hereto (whether by operation of law or otherwise) without the prior written consent of each of the other parties and any such purported assignment without such prior written consent shall be null and void; provided, however, that Purchaser and Parent may assign this Agreement and any of their respective rights, interests and obligations hereunder to any of their respective direct or indirect Subsidiaries without such prior written consent, but no such assignment shall relieve either such party of its obligations under this Agreement. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement will be binding upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties and their respective successors and assigns. Each Stockholder agrees as to himself, severally and not jointly, that this Agreement and his obligations hereunder shall attach to his Subject Shares and shall be binding upon any person or entity to which legal or beneficial ownership of such Subject Shares shall pass, whether by operation of law or otherwise, including each Stockholder's heirs, guardians, administrators or successors.

Section 5.6 GOVERNING LAW. THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTS MADE, EXECUTED, DELIVERED AND PERFORMED WHOLLY WITHIN THE STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT REGARD TO ANY APPLICABLE PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAW, EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE REQUIRED BY THE DGCL.

Section 5.7 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, all of which will be considered one and the same agreement and will

6

become effective when two or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other parties, it being understood that all parties need not sign the same counterpart.

Section 5.8 Interpretation. When a reference is made in this Agreement to a Section, such reference will be to a Section of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and will not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. Whenever the words "include", "includes" or "including" are used in this Agreement they will be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation". References to the "Company" include the Subsidiaries of the Company unless the context clearly requires otherwise. The phrases "the date of this Agreement", "the date hereof" and terms of similar import, unless the context otherwise requires, will be deemed to refer to February 17, 2003. As used in this Agreement, the term "affiliate" shall have the meaning set forth in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act; provided that in no event will Parent or Purchaser, on the one hand, or the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, on the other, be considered an affiliate of the other such party(ies).

Section 5.9 Stop Transfer Restriction. In furtherance of this Agreement, each Stockholder shall and hereby does authorize Purchaser's counsel to notify the Company's transfer agent that there is a stop transfer restriction with respect to all of his Subject Shares (and that this Agreement places limits on the voting and transfer of his shares); provided, however, that (a) each such notification to the Company's transfer agent in accordance with this Section 5.9 shall provide that the relevant stop transfer restriction shall not limit the exercise by that Stockholder of his Options, or the transfer of his Subject Shares in compliance with Section 4.1, and (b) any such stop transfer restrictions shall, with respect to each Stockholder (except Isaak Karaev), terminate and be of no further force or effect on and after May 17, 2003.

Section 5.10 Entire Agreement; No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement (i) constitutes the entire agreement and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and (ii) is not intended to confer upon any person other than the parties hereto any rights or remedies hereunder.

Section 5.11 Stockholder Capacity. By executing and delivering this Agreement, each Stockholder makes no agreement or understanding herein in his capacity or actions as a director, officer or employee of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company. Each Stockholder is signing and entering into this Agreement solely in his capacity as the beneficial owner of his Subject Shares, and nothing herein shall limit or affect in any way any actions that may be

hereafter taken by him in his capacity as an employee, officer or director of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company.

Section 5.12 Validity. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement will not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provisions

7

hereof, which will remain in full force and effect. Upon any determination that any term or other provision is invalid or incapable of being enforced, the parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in order that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement may be consummated as originally contemplated to the fullest extent possible.

Section 5.13 Nonsurvival of Representations and Warranties. None of the representations and warranties in this Agreement or in any instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement will survive the Effective Time or any termination of this Agreement. This Section 5.13 shall not limit any covenant or agreement of a party that by its terms expressly contemplates performance after the Effective Time.

Section 5.14 Jurisdiction. Each of Parent, Purchaser and each Stockholder as to himself hereby expressly and irrevocably submits to the non-exclusive personal jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the District of Delaware and to the jurisdiction of any other competent court of the State of Delaware (collectively, the "Delaware Courts"), preserving, however, all rights of removal to such federal court under 28 U.S.C. Section 1441, in connection with all disputes arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby and agrees not to commence any litigation relating thereto except in such courts. Each such party hereby waives the right to any other jurisdiction or venue for any litigation arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby to which any of them may be entitled by reason of its present or future domicile. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each such party agrees that each of the other parties shall have the right to bring any action or proceeding for enforcement of a judgment entered by the Delaware Courts in any other court or jurisdiction.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parent, Purchaser and each Stockholder have caused this Agreement to be signed, in the case of Parent and Purchaser, by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, as of the date first written above.

REUTERS GROUP PLC

By: /s/ Christopher Ahearn

Name: Christopher Ahearn Title: Attorney-in-Fact

PROTON ACQUISITION CORPORATION

By: /s/ Christopher Ahearn

Name: Christopher Ahearn

Title: President

Class of Stock Shares Owned

Common Stock 950,771 ISAAK KARAEV

By: /s/ Isaak Karaev

Name: Isaak Karaev

Class of Stock Shares Owned

Common Stock 183,829 JOHN J. MAHONEY

By: /s/ John J. Mahoney

Name: John J. Mahoney

Class of S	Stock	Shares	Owned
Common S	Stock	31,	804

MIKHAIL AKSELROD

By: /s/ Mikhail Akselrod
----Name: Mikhail Akselrod

Class of Stock	Shares Owned
Common Stock	18,445

GREGG B. AMONETTE

By: /s/ Gregg B. Amonette
---Name: Gregg B. Amonette

Class	of Stock	Shares Owned
Commo	on Stock	11,002

CHRISTOPHER F. FEENEY

By: /s/ Christopher F. Feeney
----Name: Christopher F. Feeney

Class of Stock

Common Stock

Shares Owned

Owned

Shares Owned

Shares

Class of Stock Shares Owned
----Common Stock 4,974 ROBERT SKEA

By: /s/ Robert Skea
----Name: Robert Skea

## Confidentiality Agreement

This Confidentiality Agreement (the "Confidentiality Agreement") is made and entered into as of December 16, 2002, by and between Reuters America Inc. ("REUTERS"), a Delaware corporation, and MULTEX.COM, INC., a Delaware corporation ("MULTEX").

#### Recitals

WHEREAS, REUTERS and MULTEX are interested in pursuing a potential business arrangement (the "Potential Transaction"); and

WHEREAS, REUTERS wishes to receive confidential and proprietary information from MULTEX and MULTEX wishes to receive confidential and proprietary information from REUTERS solely for the purposes of (1) studying the feasibility of the Potential Transaction and (2) possibly negotiating a definitive agreement by and between REUTERS and MULTEX regarding the Potential Transaction (the "Definitive Agreement").

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the disclosures to be made by REUTERS and by MULTEX pursuant to this Confidentiality Agreement and the covenants entered into by REUTERS and by MULTEX herewith, the parties agree as follows (it being understood and agreed that REUTERS and MULTEX are also agreeing to cause their respective Representatives (as defined below) to comply with the provisions hereof):

1. For purposes of this Confidentiality Agreement, the term "Evaluation Material" shall mean and include all oral, written, tangible and/or intangible information and any other material in any form concerning the disclosing party (the "Disclosing Party") provided by the Disclosing Party and/or any of its directors, officers, employees, affiliates, representatives (including, without limitation, financial advisors, attorneys and accountants), controlling persons within the meaning of Section 20 of the Securities Act of 1934, as amended, or other agents or their sources of financing for the Potential Transaction (collectively, the "Representatives") to the other party and/or its Representatives (the "Receiving Party") from time to time on and after the date of this Confidentiality Agreement and all notes, extracts, digests, computer files, analyses, compilations, studies, interpretations, documents or other materials (in any form or medium) prepared by the Receiving Party which contain, reflect or are based upon, in whole or in part, the information furnished to the Receiving Party. For the purposes of this Confidentiality Agreement, the term "Evaluation Material" does not include any information which (a) is generally available to or known by the public (other than as a result of a disclosure directly or indirectly by the Receiving Party prohibited hereunder), (b) was available to the Receiving Party on a non-confidential basis from a source other than Disclosing Party or any of its Representatives

(provided that such source is not or was not known by the Receiving Party to be bound by a confidentiality agreement with or obligation to the Disclosing Party preventing such disclosure), or (c) was independently developed by the Receiving Party without reliance upon any Evaluation Material of the Disclosing Party.

2. The Receiving Party agrees to safeguard the Evaluation Material from disclosure prohibited hereunder using at least the same degree of care it employs with respect to its own confidential information of a similar nature. The Evaluation Material shall be used

solely for the purpose of evaluating the Potential Transaction and negotiating the terms thereof and of the Definitive Agreement and, except for that purpose, will not be used in any way directly or indirectly detrimental to or competitive with the Disclosing Party or any Representative or purchaser of the Disclosing Party. Except as required by applicable law, regulation or legal process, including Regulation FD under the U.S. securities laws, or by exchange rule, regulation or request, and subject to Paragraph 3 below, unless otherwise set forth in a Definitive Agreement executed by MULTEX and REUTERS, such information shall be kept confidential by the Receiving Party in accordance with the terms hereof. If the Receiving Party is required to make disclosure of any Evaluation Material as set forth in the preceding sentence, it shall give written notice as far in advance thereof as reasonably practicable to the Disclosing Party in order to afford Disclosing Party an opportunity to discuss with the Receiving Party whether and to what extent disclosure is required and if desired, and to the extent reasonably practicable, to seek a protective order against such disclosure. The Receiving Party shall disclose the Evaluation Material or portions thereof solely to those Representatives of the Receiving Party who need to know such information for the purpose of evaluating the Potential Transaction or negotiating the Definitive Agreement. Prior to disclosing the Evaluation Material to a Representative, the Representative shall be informed of the confidential nature of the Evaluation Material and shall be directed by the Receiving Party to treat such Evaluation Material pursuant to the terms of this Confidentiality Agreement. The Receiving Party agrees to be responsible for any breach of this Confidentiality Agreement by any of its Representatives and to indemnify and hold the Disclosing Party harmless for any claims, damages or other losses arising therefrom or relating thereto.

3. At any time upon the request of the Disclosing Party for any reason, the Receiving Party shall promptly deliver to a Contact (as defined below) of the Disclosing Party or destroy (pursuant to the terms of the following sentence) all written or other tangible forms of Evaluation Material (and any copies thereof) furnished to Receiving Party or any of its Representatives, by or on behalf of the Disclosing Party and/or any of its Representatives. In the event of such a decision or request, all Evaluation Material not returned to the Disclosing Party (including without limitation all copies thereof, all

Evaluation Material in any form or other medium prepared by the Receiving Party and/or any of its Representatives and/or all intangible Evaluation Material provided by or on behalf of the Disclosing Party and/or any or its Representatives) shall be destroyed, no copy thereof shall be retained and such destruction shall be certified in writing to the Disclosing Party by an authorized officer of the Receiving Party and, as applicable, each of its Representatives supervising such destruction. Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 4, the Receiving Party's general counsel may retain one set of Evaluation Material in her or his records for a period not to exceed one (1) year following a party's decision not to proceed with the Potential Transaction solely for evidentiary purposes in the event that any dispute arises relating to the confidentiality obligations of the parties hereunder; provided that following the expiration of such one (1) year period, such general counsel shall dispose of such Evaluation Material in the manner described in this Section 3. Notwithstanding the return or destruction of the Evaluation Material, the Receiving Party and all of its Representatives shall continue to be bound by their obligations of confidentiality and other obligations hereunder.

4. In view of the fact that the Evaluation Material consists of confidential and non-public information, without the prior written consent of the Disclosing Party, except as required by applicable law, regulation or legal process or by exchange rule, regulation or

2

request, and subject to Paragraph 2 above (including the advance notice provisions), the Receiving Party shall not, and shall direct all of its Representatives not to, disclose to any other party either the fact that any investigations, discussions or negotiations are taking place concerning a possible transaction between MULTEX and REUTERS, or that either party has requested or received Evaluation Material from the other party, or any of the terms, conditions or other facts with respect to any such possible transaction, including the status thereof. The Receiving Party acknowledges that it is aware that the securities laws of the United States prohibit any person who has material, non-public information concerning the Disclosing Party or a Potential Transaction from purchasing or selling securities in reliance upon such information or from communicating such information to any other person or entity under circumstances in which it is reasonably foreseeable that such person or entity is likely to purchase or sell such securities in reliance upon such information, and that similar obligations exist under securities law and regulation in the United Kingdom.

5. A list of contacts for each party for due diligence and negotiation purposes with regard to the Potential Transaction is attached hereto as Exhibit A, which may be amended from time to time by the appropriate party (the "Contacts"). It is understood that with regard to the Potential Transaction all (a) communications, (b) requests for additional information, (c) requests for facility tours or management meetings, and (d) discussions or questions

regarding procedures shall be submitted or directed only to a Contact.

- 6. The Receiving Party understands and acknowledges that neither the Disclosing Party nor any of its Representatives is making any representation or warranty, express or implied, as to the accuracy or completeness of the Evaluation Material, and neither the Disclosing Party nor any of its Representatives shall have any liability to Receiving Party, any of its Representatives and/or any other party resulting from their use of or reliance upon the Evaluation Material. The Receiving Party and its Representatives understand that the Evaluation Material is not designed to satisfy the requirements of federal or state securities laws. Only those representations and warranties that are made in a Definitive Agreement, when, as and if it is executed, and subject to such limitations and restrictions as may be specified in such Definitive Agreement, shall have any legal effect. Each party reserves the right in its sole discretion to change its procedures regarding the Potential Transaction at any time without prior notice to the other party or any of the other party's Representatives or any other party, reject any proposal made by the other party, any of its Representatives or any other party and to terminate the discussions or negotiations for any reason, without any liability therefor.
- 7. The Receiving Party acknowledges that remedies at law may be inadequate to protect the Disclosing Party against any actual or threatened breach of this Confidentiality Agreement. Accordingly, the Disclosing Party shall be entitled to equitable relief, including injunction and specific performance, in the event of any breach of the terms of this Confidentiality Agreement, in addition to all other remedies available to the Disclosing Party at law or in equity.
- 8. No failure or delay by either party in exercising any right power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any right, power or privilege hereunder.

3

- 9. Neither this paragraph nor any other provision in this Confidentiality Agreement can be waived or amended except by the express written consent of each party hereto, which consent shall specifically refer to this paragraph (or such other provision) and explicitly make such waiver or amendment. This Confidentiality Agreement sets forth the entire agreement and understanding of the parties, and supersedes all prior agreements, arrangements and understandings (including the Nondisclosure Agreement dated May 5, 2000), relating to the subject matter hereof.
- 10. This Confidentiality Agreement is for the benefit of MULTEX and REUTERS and shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, without regard to its conflicts of laws principles.
- 11. Unless and until a Definitive Agreement is executed by all parties hereto, neither MULTEX nor REUTERS shall be under any obligation of any kind whatsoever with respect to the Potential Transaction.

12. This Confidentiality Agreement shall be in force from the date hereof for a period of three (3) years following the last disclosure or discussions hereunder. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed this Confidentiality Agreement as of the date first written above.

REUTERS AMERICA INC.

MULTEX.COM, INC.

By: /s/ Christopher J. Ahearn

\_\_\_\_\_

Name: Christopher J. Ahearn

\_\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_\_\_

Title: President - Corporates & Media

-----

Date: December 17, 2002

By: /s/ Edward Fargis

-----

Name: Edward C. Fargis

-----

\_\_\_\_\_\_

Title: V.P. & General Counsel

Date: December 17, 2002

\_\_\_\_\_

4

# EXHIBIT A CONTACTS

# REUTERS' Contacts:

Chief Executive Officer
President - Corporates & Media
SVP, Finance - Corporates & Media
President - Business Technology Group
Global Head of Data
VP, Business Development
VP & Principal Legal Counsel, Corporate
MULTEX's Contacts:

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer General Counsel Thomas Glocer Chris Ahearn William Hickson Graham Albutt David Byrnes Russell Haworth Stephen Lehman

Isaak Karaev Jeffrey Geisenheimer Edward Fargis Multex.com, Inc. 100 Williams Street New York, NY 10038

January 29, 2003

Reuters America Inc. 3 Times Square New York, NY 10036

#### Ladies and Gentlemen:

In connection with your consideration of a potential business combination involving Multex.com, Inc. (the "Company"), it is expected that we will furnish you with, or otherwise make available to you, certain information about the Company, pursuant to the Confidentiality Agreement dated as of December 16, 2002 (the "Confidentiality Agreement").

In furtherance of the provisions of paragraph 5 of the Confidentiality Agreement, you agree that for a period of eighteen months following the date of this letter agreement (the "Standstill Period"), none of you, Reuters Group PLC ("Reuters") or any entity, whether incorporated or unincorporated, (i) of which at least a majority of the securities or ownership interests having by their terms ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors or other persons performing similar functions is directly or indirectly owned or controlled by Reuters and over which Reuters has, directly or indirectly, actual control or (ii) to which Reuters has, directly or indirectly, provided or otherwise made available information about the Company obtained by Reuters pursuant to the Confidentiality Agreement (any such entity, a "Controlled Affiliate"; provided, however, that, for the avoidance of doubt, based on the relationship that you, Reuters and the other Controlled Affiliates currently have with each of the following entities, none of Instinet Group Incorporated, TIBCO Software Inc., Radianz Limited or Dow Jones Reuters Business Interactive LLC (Factiva) nor any of their subsidiaries shall be deemed a Controlled Affiliate absent any material change in any such relationship; you, Reuters and the other Controlled Affiliates, collectively, "Reuters Group") (and any person acting on behalf of or in concert with Reuters Group) will, directly or indirectly, without the Company's prior written consent, (i) acquire, agree to acquire, propose, seek or offer to acquire, or facilitate the acquisition or ownership of, any securities or 50% or more of the consolidated assets of the Company and its subsidiaries, (ii) enter, agree to enter, propose, seek or

offer to enter into or facilitate any merger, business combination, recapitalization, restructuring or other extraordinary transaction involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries, (iii) make, or in any way participate or engage in, any solicitation of consents or proxies to vote, or seek to advise or influence any person with respect to the voting of, any voting securities of the Company, (iv) form, join or in any way participate in a "group" (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) with respect to any voting securities of the Company, (v) otherwise act, alone or in concert with others, to seek to control or influence the management or

Reuters America Inc.

2

January 29, 2003

the policies of the Company, (vi) disclose any intention, plan or arrangement prohibited by, or inconsistent with, the foregoing or (vii) advise, assist or encourage or enter into any discussions, negotiations, agreements or arrangements with any other persons in connection with the foregoing. You further agree that during the Standstill Period you will not, without the written consent of the Company, (x) request the Company or any of its representatives, directly or indirectly, to amend or waive any provision of this paragraph (including this sentence) or (y) take any action that is reasonably likely to require the Company to make a public announcement regarding the possibility of a business combination, merger or other type of transaction described in this paragraph with Reuters Group.

You also agree that during the Standstill Period, Reuters Group (and any person acting on behalf of or in concert with Reuters Group) will not, without the prior written consent of the Company, directly or indirectly solicit or encourage any of the following employees of the Company to leave the Company's employ: [list of employee names] (the "Employees"), provided, however, that the provisions of this paragraph shall not be deemed violated in case of (i) general advertisements or other solicitations of employment by Reuters Group (or person acting on its behalf) or (ii) any discussions initiated by any Employee without any prior solicitation by Reuters Group in violation of the foregoing.

Notwithstanding the above, Reuters Group shall have the right to make a non-public proposal to the Transaction Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company (a) for an acquisition or other transaction involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries or (b) to amend this letter agreement; provided that, in the case of clause (a) or (b), (i) such proposal is subject to the approval of the Transaction Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company; (ii) you shall not be required (whether by applicable law or otherwise) to publicly disclose, or to amend, modify or supplement any existing public disclosure because of, the making of such proposal, and (iii) Reuters Group (and any person acting on behalf of or in concert with Reuters Group) shall not publicly disclose such proposal without the prior written consent of the Company.

Notwithstanding the above, the provisions of this letter agreement shall not apply to and none of its provisions shall be deemed breached by (i) the exercise by Reuters Group of all the voting rights related to the equity securities of the Company that Reuters Group beneficially owns from time to time, but in any event not in excess of the amount disclosed by Reuters in its Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission dated September 21, 2000, (ii) any action taken or not taken by any director of the Company appointed or nominated by, or who is an employee, officer or director of, Reuters Group in the performance of his or her duties as a director of the Company or (iii) any action taken or not taken by Reuters Group in accordance or in connection with the terms of any existing joint venture agreement, operating agreement, license agreement, marketing agreement, partnership agreement, distribution agreement or similar agreement that does not involve 50% or more of the consolidated assets of the Company and its subsidiaries, between the Company or its affiliates (as such term is defined under Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) and Reuters Group.

The provisions of the second paragraph of this letter agreement shall terminate and become null and void upon (i) the Company entering into an agreement for the sale of 25% or more of the consolidated assets of the Company and its subsidiaries or 15% or more of the voting securities of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, whether by means of a stock sale, merger,

Reuters America Inc.

3

January 29, 2003

consolidation, asset sale, tender offer or other transaction, other than a transaction in which the Company's stockholders beneficially own at least 65% of the common equity of the surviving corporation or its direct or indirect parent and following such transaction no person or "group" (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) owns 15% or more of such common equity (any of the foregoing, an "Alternative Transaction"), (ii) any third party commencing or publicly announcing its intention to commence a tender offer, proxy contest or proxy solicitation with respect to or in connection with an Alternative Transaction or (iii) any third party publicly proposing or offering to engage in an Alternative Transaction unless the Company does not publicly or privately respond to such proposal or offer (other than by stating that the Company is not for sale and is not considering such proposal or offer), and does not provide information to, engage in discussions or negotiations with, or otherwise seek to encourage such third party with respect to such proposal or offer or any other Alternative Transaction and has not provided information to, or engaged in formal sustained discussions or negotiations with, such third party with respect to such proposal or offer or any other Alternative Transaction within the 18 months preceding such proposal or offer. The Company shall notify Reuters within two business days thereof if any event occurs or circumstance exists which has resulted in any provisions of this letter agreement being terminated in accordance with the terms of this paragraph, and shall respond accurately within two business days to any inquiries made by Reuters regarding whether any event has occurred or circumstance exists which has resulted in any provisions

of this letter agreement being terminated in accordance with the terms of this paragraph.

No failure or delay by either party to this letter agreement in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof or preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege hereunder.

Each of us agrees that the Company or you, as the case may be, would be irreparably injured by any breach of this letter agreement by the other party to this letter agreement or its affiliates and that, in such event, the Company or you, as the case may be, shall be entitled, in addition to any and all other remedies, to injunctive relief and specific performance.

The existence and terms of this letter agreement shall be deemed "Evaluation Material" (as such term is defined in the Confidentiality Agreement) for purposes of the Confidentiality Agreement.

[Signature Page Follows]

Reuters America Inc.

4

January 29, 2003

This agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, without regard to its conflicts of laws principles.

Very truly yours,

MULTEX.COM, INC.

By: /s/ Edward C. Fargis

Name: Edward C. Fargis
Title: Vice President &

General Counsel

Accepted and agreed:

REUTERS AMERICA INC.

By: /s/ Christopher Ahearn

Name: Christopher Ahearn

Title: President, Corporates & Media